
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 
Lleoliad: 

Fideogynhadledd drwy Zoom 

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 30 Mawrth 

2022 

Amser: 09.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Manon George 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddTai@senedd.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod (09.00 – 09.15) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

   

2 Papurau i'w nodi 

 (Tudalen 1)  

2.1 Llythyr gan y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad mewn 

perthynas â Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm 

Rhif 2) ar y Bil Etholiadau 

 (Tudalennau 2 - 5)  

2.2 Adroddiad gan y Sefydliad Bevan ar yr argyfwng tai yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 6 - 62)  

3 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

   

4 Ymchwiliad i ddarparu safleoedd ar gyfer Sipsiwn, Roma a 

Theithwyr - trafod y gwaith ymgysylltu 

(09.15 - 09.35) (Tudalennau 63 - 66)  

5 Trafod y flaenraglen waith 

(09.35 - 10.00) (Tudalennau 67 - 71)  

6 Ymchwiliad i ail gartrefi – trafod y prif faterion 

(10.00 - 11.00) (Tudalennau 72 - 140)  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 

30 Mawrth 2022 – clawr y papurau i’w nodi 

Rhif y papur Mater Oddi wrth Gweithredu 

Papur 1 Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol ar y Bil 

Etholiadau 

Y Cwnsler 

Cyffredinol a 

Gweinidog y 

Cyfansoddiad 

I’w nodi 

Papur 2 Blaenraglen waith Sefydliad Bevan I’w nodi 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2



Huw Irranca-Davies AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

John Griffiths AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd  
CF99 1SN  

SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru 
SeneddTai@senedd.cymru 

22 Mawrth 2022 
Annwyl Huw a John, 

Rwy'n ysgrifennu i roi gwybod i'r Pwyllgorau am hynt y gwaith mewn perthynas â'r Bil 
Etholiadau (y Bil) sy'n mynd drwy gyfnod Pwyllgor Tŷ'r Arglwyddi ar hyn o bryd. Cyflwynodd 
Llywodraeth y DU welliannau i'w hystyried, sy’n gwneud darpariaeth sy'n dod o fewn 
cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Senedd. Felly, rwyf heddiw wedi gosod Memorandwm 
Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 2) gerbron y Senedd.   

Yn fy llythyr dyddiedig 16 Chwefror, rhoddais wybod ichi y byddwn yn rhoi ystyriaeth bellach 
i'r gwelliannau hyn ochr yn ochr â'r dull o ymdrin â'r Bil ehangach.  Yn anffodus, oherwydd 
negodiadau a thrafodaethau gyda Llywodraeth y DU mewn perthynas â nifer o 
ddarpariaethau'r Bil, dim ond nawr yr wyf mewn sefyllfa i roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ichi. 
Rwy’n ymddiheuro bod y diweddariad hwn yn hwyr, ond yn gobeithio y byddwch yn cytuno 
ein bod mewn sefyllfa well o lawer mewn perthynas â'r Bil hwn. 

Fel y cofiwch, ar ôl i’r Bil gael ei gyflwyno fis Gorffennaf 2021, gosodais Femorandwm 
Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar 9 Medi 2021. Roedd y Memorandwm yn cadarnhau na allwn 
argymell cydsynio i'r Bil fel y'i cyflwynwyd, ac y byddai'n well gennyf ystyried rhai o'r 
materion a godwyd drwy ddeddfwriaeth y Senedd. 

Rwy'n falch o ddweud ein bod, yn dilyn ymgysylltu cadarnhaol â Llywodraeth y DU, wedi 
llwyddo i sicrhau gwelliannau eithrio i'r Bil er mwyn eithrio etholiadau datganoledig Cymru 
rhag cwmpas amryw o ddarpariaethau. O ganlyniad, mae gwelliannau Llywodraeth y DU a 
gyflwynwyd ar 28 Chwefror wedi mynd i'r afael â'm pryderon blaenorol, a nodwyd yn y 
Memorandwm gwreiddiol, ynghylch dylanwad gormodol, y Comisiwn Etholiadol, gwariant 
tybiannol a mesurau cyllid gwleidyddol eraill. 

Crynhoir y rhain isod: 

Papur 1

Tudalen y pecyn 2

Eitem 2.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales
mailto:SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddTai@senedd.cymru


 
Dylanwad Gormodol - Cymal 8 ac Atodlen 5 
 
Mae’r gwelliannau a gyflwynwyd yn mewnosod adran newydd, sef 114A yn Neddf 
Cynrychiolaeth y Bobl 1983 (Deddf 1983) sy’n darparu mai dim ond i etholiadau Senedd y 
DU ac etholiadau llywodraeth leol yn Lloegr y mae’r drosedd newydd o ddylanwad 
gormodol, fel y’i mewnosodir gan y ddarpariaeth honno, yn berthnasol. Felly, mae’r drosedd 
bresennol o ddylanwad gormodol yn adran 115 o Ddeddf 1983 wedi’i chadw ar gyfer 
etholiadau Senedd Cymru ac etholiadau llywodraeth leol yng Nghymru. 
  
Ceir sefyllfa lle bydd adran 114A o Ddeddf 1983 yn parhau i fod yn berthnasol i etholiadau 
Senedd Cymru. Mae hyn oherwydd Atodlen 1A i Ddeddf Llywodraeth Cymru 2006 (Deddf 
2006), sy’n anghymhwyso person rhag bod yn Aelod o Senedd Cymru neu’n ymgeisydd 
mewn etholiad i fod yn Aelod o’r Senedd honno mewn amgylchiadau lle na ellir ei ethol i 
Dŷ’r Cyffredin o ganlyniad i gyflawni arfer llwgr o dan Ddeddf 1983. Gan y bydd y drosedd 
newydd yn adran 114A yn bodloni’r diffiniad o arfer llwgr [‘corrupt practice’], bydd unigolion 
sy’n cael eu hatal rhag bod yn Aelod o Senedd y DU o ganlyniad i gyflawni’r drosedd honno 
yn cael eu hatal hefyd rhag bod yn Aelod o Senedd Cymru.  
  
Yn ein barn ni, mae’n briodol nad yw’r Bil yn diwygio Atodlen 1A i Ddeddf 2006 i newid ei 
heffaith. Mewnosodwyd yr Atodlen hon yn Neddf 2006 gan Ddeddf Senedd ac Etholiadau 
(Cymru) 2020. Byddai newid y meini prawf ar gyfer anghymhwyso unigolion rhag bod naill 
ai’n Aelod o Senedd Cymru yn newid sylweddol i’r drefn bresennol. Byddwn, maes o law, yn 
ystyried yn llawn y goblygiadau sy'n deillio o adran 114A o Ddeddf 1983 gyda'r bwriad o 
benderfynu a allai fod angen cyflwyno deddfwriaeth y Senedd i ddiwygio'r drefn bresennol.  
 
 
Cymal 14 - Datganiad Polisi a Strategaeth 
 
Mae’r gwelliannau a osodwyd yn diwygio’r adran 4(3A) newydd sydd i’w mewnosod yn 
Neddf Pleidiau Gwleidyddol, Etholiadau a Refferenda 2000 (Deddf 2000) drwy eithrio 
swyddogaethau datganoledig Cymru rhag cwmpas unrhyw Ddatganiad Polisi a Strategaeth 
sydd i’w gyhoeddi gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol o dan y ddarpariaeth honno.  
 
Cymal 18(1) - Gwariant tybiannol: defnyddio eiddo etc. ar ran ymgeiswyr ac eraill  

 
Mae’r gwelliant a gyflwynwyd gan y Llywodraeth yn mynd i’r afael â’r pryderon a godwyd yn 
flaenorol gan Lywodraeth Cymru, drwy ddiwygio adran 90C o Ddeddf 1983 fel nad oes 
darpariaeth yn cael ei gwneud bellach mewn perthynas â chymhwyso’r rheolau ar wariant 
ymgyrchu i ymgeiswyr mewn etholiadau llywodraeth leol yng Nghymru.  
 
 
Cymal 19 - Codau ymarfer ar dreuliau  
 
Byddai cymal 19(2) fel y’i drafftiwyd yn wreiddiol wedi addasu swyddogaethau Gweinidogion 
Cymru mewn perthynas ag etholiadau datganoledig drwy ddiwygio pŵer Gweinidogion 
Cymru i ddyroddi cod ymarfer gan y Comisiwn Etholiadol o dan baragraff 14A o Atodlen 4A i 
Ddeddf 1983, yn ogystal â phŵer Gweinidogion Cymru i ddynodi’r dyddiad y daw cod 
ymarfer o dan baragraff 14A i rym. Mae’r gwelliannau a osodwyd ar 28 Chwefror yn mynd i’r 
afael â phryderon Llywodraeth Cymru drwy hepgor swyddogaethau a roddwyd i 
Weinidogion Cymru mewn perthynas at etholiadau datganoledig. 
 
 
Cymal 20 - Personau awdurdodedig nad yw’n ofynnol iddynt dalu treuliau drwy asiant 
etholiadol  

Tudalen y pecyn 3



 
Roedd cymal 20(1) yn diwygio adran 73 o Ddeddf 1983 fel nad yw treuliau a ysgwyddir gan 
drydydd parti o dan adran 75 mewn perthynas ag etholiadau lleol yn gorfod cael eu talu gan 
yr asiant etholiadol. Mae’r gwelliant a gyflwynwyd yn eithrio treuliau a ysgwyddir mewn 
perthynas ag etholiadau llywodraeth leol yng Nghymru rhag y diwygiadau i Ddeddf 1983.   
 
 
Cymal 24 - Cyfyngiad ar ba drydydd partïon all ysgwyddo gwariant a reolir 
 
Roedd y darpariaethau gwreiddiol yn mewnosod adran newydd, sef 89A yn Neddf 2000 a 
oedd yn cael yr effaith o gyfyngu ar ba drydydd partïon a allai ysgwyddo gwariant a reolir. 
Byddai’r darpariaethau hynny wedi cynnwys gwariant a ysgwyddir mewn perthynas ag 
etholiadau Senedd Cymru. Mae’r etholiadau hynny wedi’u heithrio rhag y darpariaethau 
drwy’r gwelliannau a osodwyd ar 28 Chwefror, sy’n darparu mai dim ond i etholiadau 
cyffredinol Senedd y DU neu etholiadau cyffredinol i Gynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon y mae’r 
cymal yn gymwys.  
 
 
Cymal 25 - Trydydd partïon sy’n gallu rhoi hysbysiad at ddibenion Rhan 6 o Ddeddf 
2000 

 

Roedd y darpariaethau gwreiddiol yn rhoi pŵer i wneud rheoliadau i’r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol 
yn unig i ddiwygio adran 88(2) o Ddeddf 2000 i’r perwyl o ddiwygio drwy ychwanegu, dileu 
neu amrywio disgrifiadau trydydd partïon. Mae’r gwelliant a gyflwynwyd yn mynd i’r afael â’n 
pryderon drwy gyfyngu ar arfer y pŵer sydd gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol i wneud 
rheoliadau at ddibenion cyfnodau sy’n ymwneud ag etholiadau cyffredinol Senedd y DU neu 
etholiadau cyffredinol i Gynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon. 
 
 

Cymal 26 - Trydydd partïon cydnabyddedig: newidiadau i derfynau presennol etc. 
 
Roedd y ddarpariaeth hon yn diwygio gwahanol adrannau o Ddeddf 2000 i’w gwneud yn 
ofynnol i ymgyrchwyr trydydd parti roi hysbysiad i’r Comisiwn Etholiadol ar lefel wario is nag 
sy’n ofynnol ar hyn o bryd. Mae’r gwelliannau a gyflwynwyd yn mynd i’r afael â’n pryderon 
drwy sicrhau mai dim ond mewn perthynas â chyfnodau sy’n ymwneud ag etholiadau 
cyffredinol Senedd y DU neu etholiadau cyffredinol i Gynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon y mae’r 
ddarpariaeth yn gymwys. 
 
Cymal 27 - Ymgyrchu ar y cyd gan bleidiau cofrestredig a thrydydd partïon  
 
Roedd y cymal hwn yn diwygio adran 94(6) o Ddeddf 2000 i wneud darpariaeth sy’n golygu 
y bydd ymgyrchwyr trydydd parti a phleidiau gwleidyddol sy’n gweithio gyda’i gilydd ar 
ymgyrch ar y cyd yn adrodd am unrhyw wariant cysylltiedig ac yn nodi’r partïon sy’n 
gysylltiedig â’r trefniant. Mae’r gwelliannau a gyflwynwyd yn mynd i’r afael â’n pryderon 
drwy sicrhau mai dim ond mewn perthynas â chyfnodau sy’n ymwneud ag etholiadau 
cyffredinol Senedd y DU neu etholiadau cyffredinol i Gynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon y mae’r 
ddarpariaeth yn gymwys. 
 
Rwyf wedi gosod Memorandwm Atodol oherwydd bod gwelliannau wedi'u cyflwyno i'r 
darpariaethau ynghylch Argraffiadau Digidol sydd, yn fy marn i, yn sbarduno’r gofyniad am 
gydsyniad y Senedd.  Fe'u crynhoir isod a manylir ymhellach arnynt yn y Memorandwm 
Atodol:   
 
Argraffnodau Digidol 
 
 Tudalen y pecyn 4



Fel y nodwyd yn y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol gwreiddiol, ein barn ni ar hyn 
yw, er nad oes anghytundeb â bwriad y polisi, bod hyn yn ymwneud â thryloywder 
etholiadol sydd, cyn belled ag y mae etholiadau datganoledig yn y cwestiwn, yn dod o fewn 
cymhwysedd datganoledig ac yn gofyn am gydsyniad y Senedd. Gwnaed nifer o welliannau 
gan Lywodraeth y DU i'r darpariaethau ynghylch argraffnodau digidol yn y Bil yn ystod 
Cyfnod Adrodd Tŷ'r Cyffredin. Cyflwynwyd gwelliannau ychwanegol ar 28 Chwefror cyn 
cyfnod Pwyllgor Tŷ'r Arglwyddi. Mae'r gwelliannau’n cynnwys darpariaeth sy'n gymwys i 
etholiadau datganoledig, ac o’u hystyried yn eu cyfanrwydd gellir barnu eu bod yn ymwneud 
â mater nas cedwir yn ôl, sef bwriadu rheoleiddio tryloywder deunydd etholiadol a gyhoeddir 
ar-lein a sicrhau bod darllenwyr a derbynwyr y deunydd etholiadol hwnnw'n deall pwy sydd 
wedi cyhoeddi deunydd ar-lein. 
 

Bygythiadau (Anghymhwyso)  
Maes arall nad yw Llywodraeth y DU wedi ceisio ei eithrio yn achos Cymru yw mewn 
perthynas â Rhan 5 o'r Bil – Anghymhwyso Troseddwyr rhag Dal Swyddi Etholedig etc.  
Mae ein safbwynt o ran y darpariaethau hyn wedi’i nodi ym mharagraff 29 i 33 o’r 
Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol gwreiddiol a pharagraffau 55 i 58 o’r 
Memorandwm Atodol. Mae Rhan 5 yn cyflwyno cosb etholiadol newydd ar ffurf gorchymyn 
anghymhwyso y bwriedir iddo ddarparu amddiffyniad ychwanegol i'r rhai sy'n cymryd rhan 
mewn etholiadau a chyfrannu at y ddadl wleidyddol, ac atal unigolion rhag cyflawni 
gweithredoedd bygythiol yn eu herbyn.   
 

Rydym wedi datgan nad ydym yn gwrthwynebu'r darpariaethau ar fygythiadau mewn 

egwyddor, gan ei bod yn bwysig amddiffyn cyfranogwyr yn y broses ddemocrataidd.  
 

Mae Llywodraeth y DU o'r farn bod y gorchymyn anghymhwyso ar sail bygythiadau yn 

ymwneud â mater achosion troseddol a gedwir yn ôl (sy'n cynnwys dedfrydu) ac felly nad 

yw'r broses cydsyniad deddfwriaethol wedi'i sbarduno. Felly, mae Llywodraeth y DU wedi 

datgan na fyddai'n ystyried gwelliant i ddileu cymhwysiad y gorchymyn anghymhwyso i 

etholiadau datganoledig a swyddi etholedig yng Nghymru. 

 
Rydym yn anghytuno â safbwynt Llywodraeth y DU nad oes angen cydsyniad 
deddfwriaethol. Mae’r cymalau perthnasol yn y Bil yn gwneud darpariaeth mewn perthynas 
â materion datganoledig oherwydd yr effaith a gânt ar fod yn gymwys i fod yn aelod o'r 
Senedd ac yn aelodau o awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru. Rydym yn dal i lynu’n gadarn wrth 
y safbwynt y dylai pob deddfwrfa gael y rhyddid i benderfynu ar ei threfn anghymhwyso ei 
hun ar gyfer yr etholiadau y mae'n gyfrifol amdanynt.   
 
O ystyried bod ein hanghytundeb â Llywodraeth y DU yn y ddau faes hyn yn ymwneud â 
chymhwysedd, yn hytrach na’r bwriad polisi, rydym yn argymell bod y Senedd yn rhoi ei 
chydsyniad yn y ddau faes hyn. Wrth wneud hynny, rydym o’r farn y bydd modd inni ystyried 
y materion hyn ymhellach gan ymgynghori â rhanddeiliaid yng Nghymru ac, os oes angen, 
ystyried yr opsiynau ar gyfer cyflwyno deddfwriaeth yn y dyfodol. 
 
Rwy’n anfon copi o’r llythyr hwn at holl Aelodau’r Senedd. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  Tudalen y pecyn 5



0 

chl 

Papur 2 / Paper 2

Tudalen y pecyn 6

Eitem 2.2



 
 

About the Bevan Foundation  

and ideas to end poverty and inequality.  

As an independent, registered charity, the Bevan Foundation relies on the generosity 

of individuals and organisations for its work, as well as charitable trusts and 

foundations. You can find out more about how you can support us and get involved 

here:  

https://www.bevanfoundation.org/support-us/organisations/ 

  

Acknowledgements  

This document forms part of a broader project of work developed in collaboration 

between the Bevan Foundation and the Lloyds Bank Foundation. The Bevan 

Foundation would like to thank the Lloyds Bank Foundation for their ongoing 

support.   

 

 

How you can help  

Hundreds of people and organisations across Wales enable the Bevan Foundation 
to speak out against poverty, inequality and injustice.  We would not exist without 
their support.  

Find out more at https://www.bevanfoundation.org/support-us/individuals/ or 
email info@bevanfoundation.org to find out what you can do  

  
  

Cover photo: Stock image from Shutterstock 

  

Copyright Bevan Foundation  
Bevan Foundation, 145a High Street, Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8DP  

info@bevanfoundation.org www.bevanfoundation.org  

  
Registered charity no. 1104191 Company registered in Wales no. 4175018 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 7

https://www.bevanfoundation.org/support-us/organisations/
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/support-us/individuals/
mailto:info@bevanfoundation.org
http://www.bevanfoundation.org/


0 
 

 

Contents 

Summary ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

2. LHA in context ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 

2.1 The Local Housing Allowance ..................................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 How the LHA is calculated............................................................................................................................ 6 

2.3 Timeline ............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

3. The LHA  rent gap ............................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 LHA gap .............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

3.2 Why is there a gap between LHA rates and rents? ............................................................................... 10 

3.3 Why does the gap between LHA and rents matter? ............................................................................ 13 

4. Landlord requirements ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

4.1 Financial requirements ................................................................................................................................. 19 

4.2 Person requirements ................................................................................................................................... 20 

4.3 Impact on available housing ...................................................................................................................... 25 

5. Quality, suitability, and security ....................................................................................................................... 27 

5.1 Quality and suitability ................................................................................................................................... 27 

5.2 Landlord conduct ..........................................................................................................................................28 

5.3 Security of tenure ......................................................................................................................................... 30 

6. The role of social housing ................................................................................................................................. 33 

6.1 Available social housing ............................................................................................................................... 33 

6.2 Trends in social housing stock .................................................................................................................. 35 

7. Conclusion and recommendations ................................................................................................................ 37 

7.1 Reforming LHA ............................................................................................................................................... 37 

7.2 Closing the gap between LHA and rents ................................................................................................39 

7.3 Protecting tenants ........................................................................................................................................ 40 

7.4 Increasing the supply of social housing ..................................................................................................42 

7.5 A Welsh Home Guarantee...........................................................................................................................42 

Annex 1. What we have done ........................................................................................................................... 44 

Annex 2. List of BRMAs ...................................................................................................................................... 46 

Annex 3. LHA rates for Apr 2020  Mar 2023 (£ per week) ...................................................................... 47 

Annex 4. Gap between LHA rates and officially recorded 30th percentile (£ per week) .................. 48 

References ............................................................................................................................................................ 49 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 8



   
 

1 
 

Summary 

This report explores the impact of the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) on low-income 

renters and on homelessness. The report primarily focuses on low-income renters under 

35 with no dependants, given the acute challenges faced by this group due to the shared 

accommodation rate.   

Key findings 

• Between May and December 2021, the LHA rate only fully covered the advertised 

rent of 3.8 per cent of properties across 10 Welsh local authorities.  

• Many landlords require tenants to satisfy certain conditions before they can rent 

their property. These are often difficult for low-income tenants to satisfy. Only 2.1 

per cent of properties advertised across 10 Welsh local authorities had advertised 

rent at or below LHA and did not have a requirement that would exclude a low-

income tenant.  

• We could not find any properties that were advertised at or below LHA and that 

that did not have a requirement that would exclude a low-income tenant in 

Conwy, Merthyr Tydfil and Pembrokeshire.  

• These challenges push many low-income people into homelessness, with others 

trapped within the homelessness system due to a lack of available 

accommodation within the private rental sector.  

• Other low-income renters are pushed into poor quality accommodation and 

financial hardship due to the inadequate support provided through the LHA.  

 

Solutions 

We have identified five areas in which action should be taken to address the problems 

caused by LHA.  

Reforming LHA 

• The UK Government should uprate the LHA annually so that it keeps place with 

rising rents. 

• The UK Government should scrap the shared accommodation LHA rate with single 

tenants under 35 years old being entitled to the one-bedroom LHA rate. 

• The Welsh Government should mandate all landlords in Wales to share how much 

they charge for rent on an annual basis. This data should be collected and 

processed by Rent Smart Wales as part of their broader activities. 

• Welsh local authorities should use existing mechanisms to ask the UK Government 

to review Welsh BRMAs where they are a poor fit with current markets. 

• If the UK Government is unwilling to review BRMAs the Welsh Government should 

request the devolution of powers to determine BRMA boundaries. 

Tudalen y pecyn 9



   
 

2 
 

• The UK Government should undertake a review to determine at what percentile 

LHA rates should be set to provide low-income renters with enough assistance to 

cover their rent. 

Closing the gap between LHA and rents 

• All Welsh local authorities should spend their DHP allocation in full.   

• The Welsh Government should guarantee local authorities that their DHP pot will 

not fall below a designated floor. If the DWP cuts DHP allocations the Welsh 

Government should step in and fund the difference. This would provide local 

authorities with more long-term security. 

• The Welsh Government should regularly review the support provided through its 

Leasing Scheme, amending the scheme as necessary to assist as many low-

income tenants as possible. 

• The forthcoming white paper on rent controls should focus on the needs of low-

income tenants. Focusing on rents at the upper end of the market is unlikely to 

make a difference to the challenges facing low-income renters.   

Protecting tenants 

• The Welsh Government should introduce legislation that prohibits discriminatory 

and unfair landlord requirements. This includes excessive deposits and personal 

requirements that relate to the employment status of the tenant. 

• The Welsh Government should work with local authorities to explore how they 

can support more low-income tenants to meet landlord requirements. For 

example, the Welsh Government should explore how its Leasing Scheme could be 

developed to allow local authorities to act as guarantors for low-income tenants. 

• Welsh local authorities should start the process of providing support to tenants 

who have been issued with an eviction notice at the beginning of the six-month 

notice period. 

• The Welsh Government should actively monitor whether landlords try and exploit 

any loopholes in the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016. If there is evidence of this 

taking place the Welsh Government should look at international best practice to 

consider how tenants can be better protected. 

• Local authorities should work with support organisations in their area to produce a 

pamphlet for tenants. It should include a list of responsibilities and local 

contact details for support with tenancy queries. The Welsh Government should 

mandate all private rental sector landlords to share this pamphlet with their tenants 

at the start of a new tenancy. 

• The Welsh Government should fund and promote the establishment of tenant 

organisations in each local authority. 

• The Welsh Government should conduct undertake an annual survey of the private 

rental sector in Wales, working with Rent Smart Wales to share information. 

Tudalen y pecyn 10



   
 

3 
 

Increasing the supply of social housing 

• The Welsh Government should significantly increase investment in construction of 

new social homes. 

• The Welsh Government should explore, and support means of increasing social 

housing stock quickly, including purchasing empty homes and making greater use 

of modular housing. 

• The Welsh Government should undertake a review to assess the challenges and 

opportunities that would be presented by devolving the housing element of 

universal credit and housing benefit. 

A Welsh Home Guarantee 

• The Welsh Government should establish a Welsh Home Guarantee to ensure that 

homeless people and people threatened with homelessness are provided with a 

package of support to ensure they can access suitable accommodation. Such 

assistance should primarily be provided by local authorities with the Welsh 

Government ensuring that they have the required resources to do so. 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 11



   
 

4 
 

1. Introduction 

Wales is in the midst of a housing crisis. The number of people presenting themselves to 

homelessness services and the rate of rough sleeping, have been gradually increasing in 

recent years.1 These pressures have worsened significantly during the Covid-19 pandemic, 

as households have struggled with stagnating wages and rising inflation.2 As the cost-of-

living crisis continues to bite, it is likely that ever greater numbers of households will 

struggle to keep a roof over their head.3 Even where households have been able to find 

accommodation in the private rental sector, high rents and low incomes mean that this 

accommodation has often been of poor quality and a stretch on financial resources.  

the reforms that have been made to the Local Housing Allowance (LHA). The reforms made 

to LHA mean that the amount of money that a low-income household receives through 

Housing Benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit is often less than their rent. The 

impact of the reforms to LHA in Wales is exacerbated by the housing system itself. Landlord 

practices such as requirements for deposits and affordability checks can prevent welfare 

concerns around the value of the LHA and their views of low-income tenants. 

The combination of both these factors leaves many households facing an impossible 

decision. Move into a property where rents are higher than the LHA rate and risk being 

pushed into significant financial hardship, or move into poor quality accommodation, or 

seek assistance through the homelessness system.  

Single people under 35 years old with no dependants are especially vulnerable to these 

challenges. The LHA rate for under 35s is set at the shared accommodation rate. This limits 

the financial support available to them via the social security system. As a result, 68 per cent 

of households threatened with homelessness as of 2019 were single person households.4 

These problems are exacerbated further as the LHA undermines efforts by local authorities 

to address insecure housing. 

financial relief is made difficult as they are unable to solve the underlying issue of 

inadequate LHA rates.  

This report seeks to further explore and analyse the challenges created by the LHA and how 

households experience these pressures. This report will first provide a background 

summary of the LHA and how it operates. Our findings will then cover the following key 

areas: 

• The financial shortfall 

• The additional barriers created by landlords 

• The lack of quality and security experienced by tenants 

• The role of social housing 

We then set out our recommendations for changes in policy and practice, exploring what 

measures can be taken in Wales to ease the challenges caused by LHA.   

Tudalen y pecyn 12



   
 

5 
 

2. LHA in context 

2.1 The Local Housing Allowance 

The LHA is the mechanism used to calculate the amount of Housing Benefit or housing 

element of Universal Credit that someone renting in the PRS may claim.5  It is designed to 

allow a tenant to rent a property in the cheapest 30 per cent of a market area.  

LHA rates primarily depend on two key factors. First, the rates vary dependent on bedrooms. 

There are different rates depending on the number of bedrooms a household is entitled to, 

up to four-bedroom properties. There is also a separate rate for shared accommodation. 

The age of the claimant and the number of people they live with, including the number, 

age and gender of any dependents, sets the maximum number of bedrooms to which a 

tenant is entitled. In addition, a single adult aged under 35 years old and with no dependents 

living with them are only eligible to claim for shared accommodation, unless they have an 

exception.  

The LHA additionally differs dependent on the location of the property. Wales is divided up 

into multiple Broad Rental Market Areas (BRMA). The LHA is set with reference to the rents 

of properties in each BRMA.   

The LHA is part of the set of benefits that are subject to the benefit cap, which limits the 

amount of social security benefits that that a household can receive. A household subject 

to the benefit cap may therefore receive less than the LHA rate if their total benefit 

entitlement exceeds the cap. 

BRMAs 

Rents vary considerably across Wales, so to reflect this, different rates are set for areas with 

broadly similar market conditions, called BRMAs. Wales has 23 BRMAs, which are drawn up 

by the Department of Work and Pensions.6 When determining the boundaries, the DWP 

must ensure residential properties within an area have adequate access to: 7 

 health care  

 education  

 recreation  

 banking  

 shopping  

 

The DWP must consider access to these amenities, ensuring that a BRMA offers reasonable 

access to them by both public and private transport. There is a legislative requirement to 

consider both the distance of travel and the time taken to travel. If journeys take an 

unreasonable length of time, it is likely that an area is too large. 

Roughly half of the BRMAs share the same borders as their respective local authorities. 

Larger and more rural areas, or areas with geographical features that prevent easy travel, 

are often split into multiple BRMAs. In total there are eleven BRMAs that either cover 

Tudalen y pecyn 13



   
 

6 
 

multiple local authority areas or only cover a part of a local authority area (see Annex 2 for 

details). One BRMA, the West Cheshire BRMA, straddles the England and Wales border. 

Annex 3 highlights the difference between the LHA rates for accommodation with different 

number of bedrooms in each area. The extent of the variation in local rents can be seen 

when comparing the lowest LHA rate and the highest. The lowest shared accommodation 

rate is to be found in Brecon and Radnor at £228.12 a month while the highest shared 

accommodation rate is in Newport and Monmouthshire at £330 a month.8  

2.2 How the LHA is calculated 

LHA rates are calculated by Rent Officers, a group of Welsh Government staff who work to 

DWP guidance on LHA matters.9 To calculate the LHA rate for each BRMA in Wales, Rent 

Officers must first collect data on the actual rent for one-bedroom, two-bedroom, three-

bedroom, four-bedroom properties and for shared accommodation in each area. There is 

a requirement for the Rent Officers to collect data on 20 per cent of all PRS dwellings of 

each accommodation type within a BRMA to constitute an adequate sample size.10 In the 

case that they unable to collect sufficient data they are allowed to use data from similar 

areas within other BRMAs and include it in their sample.11 

Rent Officers are also allowed to exclude some properties from their sample. The Rent 

Officers (Housing Benefit Functions) Order 1997 states the rent officer shall determine 

have been expected to obtain 12  This rent is then excluded from the overall dataset. 

There are further restrictions on the types of accommodation may be included in a sample. 

If a property has someone residing in it who is already in receipt of Housing Benefit or 

housing element of Universal Credit, the property will be excluded from the data set. Rent 

is a attributable to the provision 

of services 13 

Using the data from the sample, Rent Officers then calculate the rent at the 30th percentile 

for each type of property.14 This is then the basis for the LHA rate per property type per 

BRMA. 

2.3 Timeline 

The LHA was first introduced in 2008 as a reform to the way in which Housing Benefit 

entitlement was calculated for someone living in the PRS. When it was rolled out, it was set 

at the median rent for an area.15  

Numerous reforms were introduced in 2011 that reduced the value of LHA and changed 
16 Most notable among these changes was the reduction of the LHA 

to the 30th percentile of rents in a BRMA. In addition, there were caps on LHA depending 

on the size of a property, with the five-bedroom rate being scrapped. The age below which 

people were expected to share accommodation was raised from 25 to 35 and the number 

of bedrooms to which a household is entitled was specified. In addition, increases to LHA 

Tudalen y pecyn 14



   
 

7 
 

were in line with the Consumer Price Index rather than following the 30th percentile of 

rents.17 

A further decline in the value of LHA was introduced in 2016 when it was announced that 

the LHA would be frozen for four years. It was also planned that 30 per cent of the money 

saved would be used for Targeted Affordability Funding to support areas where higher rent 

increases resulted in a larger gap between the market and the money provided by the LHA. 18 

This decision to freeze the LHA was made despite the rising costs of private rentals and 

concerns that LHA rates would become increasingly divorced from actual rent levels. There 

were worries that this would lead to a gap between the value of LHA and actual rent levels, 

making it harder for tenants to access private rented housing. This in turn was expected to 

result in an increase in homelessness.19  

In 2020, the level of LHA was restored to the 30th percentile of rents, enabling it to recover 

from the CPI cap and subsequent freeze. 20 However, in late 2020 it was announced that 

the LHA rate would not be uprated for 2021/22, in effect freezing its value once again.21  In 

late 2021, it was announced that this freeze would continue into 2023 meaning the LHA 

will again be unchanged for three years.22  

The reforms to LHA were only one part of a broader programme of reforms of the social 

security system. Among the most important other reforms that took place over this period 

was the introduction of Universal Credit and the subsequent freeze on the value of 

Universal Credit. 

The introduction of Universal Credit also brought with it a five-week-wait for a first 

payment, the benefit cap, and the two-child limit. In recent months, the UK Government 

additionally removed the £20 Universal Credit uplift introduced during the Covid-19 

quality home in the PRS and have made it more difficult for households to cope with the 

rising cost of living.23   

Tudalen y pecyn 15



   
 

8 
 

3. The LHA  rent gap 

There is a body of evidence that demonstrates that a gap has developed between LHA and 

rents.24 

than the rents of 67 per cent of renters that are in receipt of Universal Credit in Wales and 

who are entitled to the housing element.25  median 

difference between LHA and rent where rent exceeds LHA is £100 a month for a household 

with no children in Wales.26  

There are reasons to believe that the problem could be even greater especially for 

prospective renters looking to find a property. Previous studies have demonstrated that in 

many areas LHA only covers the rents of the bottom 13 per cent of the market.27 Research 

undertaken in Bristol showed an even more challenging picture, with only two per cent of 

properties being advertised at or below LHA rates.28 

In September 2021 the Bevan Foundation explored the extent of the gap that has developed 

between LHA and advertised rents in Wales.29 This section sets out to provide an updated 

picture and to explore what impact this has on low-income renters and on the housing 

system more broadly.   

It will do so in three parts. First, this section will set out the extent of the gap between LHA 

and advertised rents. Second, it will consider what factors may be contributing to the 

emergence of this gap. Third it will explore the implications of the gap for low-income 

renters.   

3.1 LHA gap 

To understand the LHA-gap, the Bevan Foundation scraped data in several periodic 

snapshots occurring from May 2021 to December 2021. We scraped data in ten Welsh local 

authorities selected to provide a cross section of rural, urban, coastal and valley areas.30  

Our research found that in those ten local authorities, only 4.8 per cent of all properties on 

the market were advertised for rent at rates that were at or below LHA.31 The position 

deteriorated over the autumn with only 3.8 per cent of properties on the market between 

May and December advertised for rent at or below LHA rates. The extent of the challenge 

for single people under 35 can be seen more clearly when looking at the data in greater 

detail.  

Of the rental properties we periodically collected between May and December 2021, 2,431 

shared accommodation properties were advertised for rent in the ten local authorities 

included in the study. Of these only 152 (6.3 per cent) were advertised at rents that were 

fully covered by the LHA shared accommodation rate. This is a deterioration from the 

position in September when 7.6 per cent of shared accommodation properties on the 

market were fully covered by LHA.  

During our data scraping, we were unable to find a single shared accommodation property 

advertised at LHA rates in three of the ten local authorities considered: Denbighshire, 

Merthyr Tydfil and Pembrokeshire. In six of the ten local authorities the gap between LHA 

Tudalen y pecyn 16



   
 

9 
 

rates and the 30th percentile of properties on the market exceeded £100 a month. Even in 

Flintshire, where the gap between the 30th percentile of advertised rents and the LHA rate 

was smallest, a person would still be £120 out of pocket over the course of a year.  

 

Source: data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 

A similar pattern can be observed when looking at one-bedroom properties. We collected 

data from 742 one-bedroom properties were advertised for rent in the ten local authority 

areas. Of these only 29 (3.9 per cent) were advertised for rents that were fully covered by 

LHA, down from 4.9 per cent in September.32 

From our snapshots we were unable to identify any one-bedroom properties advertised at 

or below LHA rates in four Welsh local authorities between May and December 2021: 

Conwy, Merthyr Tydfil, Pembrokeshire and Torfaen. Only in two of the ten local authorities 

was the gap between the LHA rate and the 30th percentile of advertised rent less than £100. 

Table 1 - Shared accommodation rental properties compared with the LHA   

Local Authority Number 
of 

properties 
advertised  

Number of 
properties that 
are within the 

LHA allowance 

LHA Rate per 
month (£) 

Monthly 
30th 

Percentile 
(£) 

Gap between 
LHA and 30th 
percentile per 

month (£) 

Cardiff 1,189 47 284.44 375 90.56 

Conwy 73 5 235.80 400 125.00 

Denbighshire 97 0 235.80 400 125.00 

Flintshire 171 39 350 360 10.00 

Gwynedd 260 53 298.77* 350 52.33 

Merthyr Tydfil 54 0 216.00 400 184.00 

Pembrokeshire 117 0 240.00 400 160.00 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 141 4 216.00 300 84.00 

Swansea 304 2 250.00 375 125.00 

Torfaen 25 2 216.00 340 124.00 

Average of 10 
authorities** 

2,431 152 256.47** 375 118.53 

* In local authority in which there are multiple LHA rates, we calculated the average gap 
experienced within the local authority 
** Based on average across 10 Local Authorities 

Tudalen y pecyn 17



   
 

10 
 

Source: data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 

It is clear that there is a severe shortage of accommodation available to rent at or below 

LHA rates. Understanding why such a gap has developed is crucial if adequate solutions are 

to be designed.  

3.2 Why is there a gap between LHA rates and rents? 

There are several reasons for the emergence of the gap between LHA and rents. Perhaps 

the highest profile of these has been the LHA freeze.  

As set out in chapter 2 LHA rates were frozen between 2016 and 2020. Multiple reports 

have demonstrated a clear link between the LHA freeze and the emergence of a gap 

between the LHA and rents.33  

In 2020 the UK Government increased LHA rates back to the 30th percentile of rents as part 

of the package of measures introduced during the Covid-19 pandemic. However, the UK 

Government refroze the LHA rates at 2020/21 levels for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 financial 

years.34 The re-freezing of LHA rates at 2020/21 levels is widely considered to be a major 

factor in the LHA-rent gap re-emerging.35 This was felt to be especially true given the 

impact of the pandemic and the recovery on the housing market. There is emerging 

Table 2  One-bedroom rental market compared with LHA rates   

Local Authority Number of 
properties 
advertised  

 Number of 
properties that 
are within the 

LHA allowance 

LHA Rate per 
month (£) 

Monthly 30th 
Percentile (£) 

Gap between 
LHA and 30th 
Percentile per 

month (£) 

Cardiff 447 20 483.28 675 166.72 

Conwy 23 0 320.00 520 200.00 

Denbighshire 10 2 344.10 450 164.20 

Flintshire 39 1 368.20 495 106.80 

Gwynedd 60 1 317.29* 550 227.80 

Merthyr Tydfil 6 0 308.40 430 121.60 

Pembrokeshire 18 0 313.00 375 87.00 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 

20 4 300.00 400 75.00 

Swansea 29 1 414.24 595 180.76 

Torfaen 15 0 349.24 495 100.76 

Average of 10 
authorities** 

742 29 439.49 600 160.51 

*  In local authority in which there are multiple LHA rates, we calculated the average gap 
experienced within the local authority 
** Based on average across 10 Local Authorities 

Tudalen y pecyn 18



   
 

11 
 

evidence from the Office for National Statistics that rents in the private rental sector 

increased in 2021.36 This was a view echoed by local authority officers from all over Wales.  

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 17/01/2022 

This was identified by officers in multiple local authorities as a direct cause of a widening 

gap between LHA and rents.   

between £80 to £100 a month more, above the LHA rates. It seems to be getting 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

There are further concerns that rents may be rising fastest in areas where the gap between 

LHA and rents had historically been smallest. This was having a significant impact on the 

availability of properties to rent at LHA rates.   

-industrial areas where rents were 

 

Roundtable discussion participant, 27/01/2022 

These challenges can be made even more pronounced as a result of local factors. For 

example, we heard from housing officers from multiple local authorities in the southeast 

that the removal of the Severn Bridge tolls had pushed up rents in their area.37 In another 

authority we heard how the opening of a new hospital had contributed to rising house 

prices and rent,38 whilst increasing numbers of short-term holiday lets were a concern in 

rural areas.39  

There are other factors responsible for the gap that has developed between LHA and rent. 

a reduction in the proportion of Universal Credit claimants that experienced a gap between 

their rent and LHA, the majority (64 per cent) still faced a shortfall.40  

An important factor contributing to the gap is the way in which LHA is calculated. Rent 

Officers are responsible for collecting data on properties of all bedroom sizes in each 

BRMA. This data is then used to calculate the 30th percentile of rents by property type.41 

Collecting an adequate sample can be difficult in a number of BRMAs, in particular for 

property types that are low in number, including shared accommodation properties and 

properties with four or more bedrooms. In such circumstances, Rent Officers are permitted 

to take data from broadly similar areas and add it to the data set.42 This creates a risk of the 

LHA being set at levels that are not fully representative of local market conditions.  

This risk is heightened by the fact that there is no legal requirement for landlords to disclose 

how much rent they charge with Rent Officers. At one of our roundtable discussions we 

heard that there was very little incentive for landlords operating at the higher end of the 

market to submit their data. This means that data collected by Rent Officers is likely to be 

Tudalen y pecyn 19



   
 

12 
 

skewed towards the cheaper end of the market, so that the 30th percentile is artificially low 

which in turn pulls down LHA rates.  

T

people who rent to people  

Roundtable discussion participant, 17/01/2022 

43 In practice this means that Rent Officers collect data on the rents that 

are being paid by all tenants (both existing and new tenants) as opposed to the rents 

advertised by landlords and letting agents. While this approach reflects the rents paid by 

tenants, it creates problems in a market where rents are rising rapidly.  

In a rapidly rising market, the rent paid by existing tenants is likely to be less than the rent 

paid by new tenants. Collecting data on both types of rent increases the risk of the LHA rate 

being insufficient for prospective tenants looking to rent a home. This risk is exacerbated 

by the fact that LHA rates are only uplifted annually in a year where there is no freeze. We 

heard concerns that market conditions can evolve far more rapidly.  

then used for the following financial year. 

And as we have already heard, we have already seen a massive increase. I know they 

  

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 17/01/2022  

The ability of Rent Officers to set the LHA at a level that accurately reflects the rental market 

is compromised further. Rent Officers must disregard the rents paid by tenants that already 

receive Housing Benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit when undertaking their 

calculations. There are 206,780 rental properties registered with Rent Smart Wales.44 In 

comparison there are 89,684 households in the private rental sector who are in receipt of 

benefits.45 This means that the rents paid by 40 per cent of households that live in the 

private rental sector in Wales are disregarded when LHA is calculated. As such the dataset 

used by Rent Officers is likely a poor representation of the Welsh rental market. 

A final factor that has an impact on the LHA gap is the way that BRMAs are determined. In 

many cases, the BRMAs encompass numerous varied rental markets. For example, we heard 

from a number of local authority officers in the south Wales valleys about how rents vary 

widely between the north, centre and south of their local authority areas.46   

For example, Torfaen BRMA contains two markets with distinct differences in prices  one 

in Cwmbran in the south, and one in Blaenavon in the north.  Consequently, the LHA tries 

to represent both areas, and becomes unsuitable for the needs of each community. A 

house of commons report indicated that this is a common picture across the UK, 

particularly in larger BRMAs.47 Hotspots can also emerge unexpectedly within BRMAs, 

where local factors drive prices in specific locations. Most BRMAs do not take this variation 

into account, meaning that the LHA rate becomes unsuitable for the needs of each 

community. 

Tudalen y pecyn 20



   
 

13 
 

3.3 Why does the gap between LHA and rents matter? 

The gap that has developed between LHA and rents has an impact on a number of levels. 

This section will discuss these in two parts. The first will explore the direct impact of the 

LHA rent gap on low-income renters and on homelessness. The second will consider how 

the LHA rent gap undermines policy measures taken by the Welsh Government and by 

local authorities to reduce homelessness and improve access to housing.  

Homelessness and low-income renters 

The most significant impact of the LHA-rent gap is its contribution to increasing 

homelessness. Between 2015 and 2020 the number households that required assistance 

to avoid homelessness in Wales increased by approximately 9,000,48 with the estimated 

number of rough sleepers increasing by 69 per cent.49 It is not a coincidence that such a 

surge took place at the same time that LHA rates were frozen. In 2020 Policy in Practise 

found that: 

between their LHA rate and rent, the proportion of households in temporary 

  

Source: (Charlesworth, Fell, & Macor, 2020) 

One way in which the LHA-rent gap pushes households into homelessness is by reducing 

the number of properties available to rent. We spoke with one tenant who was searching 

for a new home after receiving an eviction notice from her landlord who was looking to 

sell the property: 

- fford 

 

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales 06/10/2021 

With so few options, many people are left with no choice but to seek support from local 

authority homelessness services, with some forced to move into temporary 

accommodation.  

 

Alice Jones, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 21/12/2021 

In 2018/19 (the last year for which data is available) nearly 2,000 homeless households who 

were eligible for support to alleviate their homelessness had been made homeless because 

of losing their rental accommodation.50  

For tenants who have managed to secure a property, the existence of any gap between 

LHA and rents can put a real pressure on their financial position, increasing their risk of 

Tudalen y pecyn 21



   
 

14 
 

falling into arrears on their rent. This in turn increases their risk of eviction and 

homelessness.  

Universal Credit pays about 

-

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

The most up to date data indicates that nearly 3,500 households were threatened with 

homelessness due to a loss of rented accommodation, with 900 households threatened 

with homelessness due to being in rent arrears.51 

The tenants that we heard from were very aware of the implications of falling behind on 

their rent. 

 

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

The focus on avoiding rent arrears to reduce the risk of homeless has knock on 

implications. We heard from one tenant who could not afford to access the internet, in part 

due to the LHA-rent gap. This was affecting her ability to find employment.  

 

 

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

This was a concern echoed by others.  

expect you to pay for travel to job interviews and pay for the stuff you need for 

 

Dylan Griffiths, resident in temporary accommodation, southwest Wales, 

12/08/2021 

We heard that single people under 35 were particularly exposed to these challenges due to 

the low level of the shared accommodation rate.  

 

Andrew Davies, resident in temporary accommodation, southwest Wales, 

12/08/2021 

This was a view shared by a number of local authority housing officers.  

Tudalen y pecyn 22



   
 

15 
 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

Policy impact 

In the same way that the LHA rent gap can push people into homelessness it can also 

undermine Welsh Government and local authority efforts to reduce homelessness.  

The same shortage of accommodation at LHA rates that pushes people into homelessness 

also prevents local authorities finding long-term accommodation for people in temporary 

housing. This can lead to some people being in temporary accommodation for a long time. 

We heard from one person who was hoping to remain in temporary accommodation until 

a property became available for them within social housing.  

 

Dylan Griffiths, resident in temporary accommodation, southwest Wales, 

12/08/2021 

The impact of the LHA-rent gap on housing policy extends further. To alleviate some of the 

challenges already identified, the UK Government, the Welsh Government and local 

authorities have taken measures to incentivise landlords to rent their properties to low-

income tenants at LHA rates or to provide extra financial support to tenants.  

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) are perhaps the most well-known of these 

measures. DHPs provide households who are struggling to meet their housing costs with 

an extra payment.52 The payment can be used to cover a rent shortfall, to fund a deposit 

on a rental property and, in some circumstances, to cover rent arrears and is primarily 

designed to be a short-term form of support.53 

DHPs are administered by local authorities with a pot of money being allocated to each 

from the UK Government.54 Local authorities are entitled to spend two and a half times 

their allocation, using their own resources to fund the increase.55 In addition, the Welsh 

Government is permitted to provide local authorities with additional funds to allow them 

to spend the maximum amount permitted on DHPs.56 

Despite the primary purpose of DHPs being to provide short-term support for people on 

low-income with their housing costs many local authorities have used DHPs over a longer 

period to support tenants struggling to cover the cost of their rent due to the LHA gap. In 

2020/21 it was recorded that 14 per cent of all DHP payments in Wales had been made due 
57  

seven years now i

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022  

Tudalen y pecyn 23



   
 

16 
 

The increased reliance on DHPs to plug the LHA gap creates a number of challenges. First, 

the discretionary nature of the scheme means that the level of assistance that is available 

for tenants, and how that is accessed, varies significantly between local authorities.58 This 

can perhaps be best demonstrated when looking at what proportion of their total DHP 

allocation is spent by each local authority.  

In 2020/21 four Welsh local authorities did not spend their DHP allocation in full. Two of 

these local authorities had significantly underspent their allocation (Anglesey and Blaenau 

Gwent). On the other hand, three Welsh local authorities (Flintshire, Monmouthshire and 

Torfaen) spent significantly more than their DHP allocation meaning that they used some 

s.  

Chart 1  

2020/21. 

Source: UK Government. (2021b, December 16). Discretionary Housing Payments statistics. 
Retrieved from UK Government: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-
housing-payments-statistics 

A second challenge presented by the use of DHPs to cover the LHA-rent gap is that tenants 

are not provided with long-term security because DHPs are intended as a temporary 

measure. We heard from one tenant who had been receiving a DHP to cover the gap 

between his rent and his benefits. He was having to reapply for his DHP and was worried 

about how he would cover his rent if his bid was unsuccessful.  

me a D  

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

The increasing gap between LHA and rent is further undermining the ability of local 

authorities to use DHPs to plug any financial shortfall.  

 What we are seeing in (local authority) is not just a shortage of properties, but also 

prices have rocketed. When before we would be paying a DHP of £100 a month, its 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

Tudalen y pecyn 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-housing-payments-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-housing-payments-statistics


   
 

17 
 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022  

With a limited pot of money, and DHP budgets subject to annual fluctuations,59 a number 

of local authorities have been reluctant to use DHPs to top up rents longer term. 

-  

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022  

Given these pressures the Welsh Government and local authorities have been exploring 

other means to encourage private sector landlords to rent their properties to low-income 

tenants. Historically local authorities used a range of measures, such as supplying bonds or 

acting as a guarantor to encourage landlords to let their properties at LHA rates.60 More 

recently the Welsh Government has introduced its Leasing Scheme.61 In return for leasing 

their properties at LHA rates minus a management fee, landlords are offered access to grant 

funding and interest free loans, with responsibility for managing the tenancy passing to the 

local authority. A consistent message that emerged from our discussions with local 

authority officers is that the LHA-rent gap is undermining these efforts.  

current LHA levels, even with the current incentives the Welsh Government 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

Another local authority officer noted: 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

Landlords are reluctant to engage with local authority officers as a result of the LHA-rent  

gap. Whilst for some, the primary motivation is the possibility of making more money by 

renting their property out for more than the LHA, others face different barriers.  

 and 

, 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

For others, conditions set by mortgage companies prevent them from working with local 

authorities over the long term. 

to be a five year with a three-year break clause. 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



   
 

18 
 

It is clear that eradicating the LHA-rent gap is crucial if long term solutions to homelessness 

in Wales are to be found. Even if this was achieved, however, there are other barriers that 

are preventing low-income tenants for gaining access to accommodation. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 26



   
 

19 
 

4. Landlord requirements 

Landlords across Wales commonly have requirements in place that a perspective tenant 

must satisfy to rent their property. These include deposits and bonds, minimum income 

tests and the need for referees and guarantors among others. Some landlords require 

tenants to satisfy multiple criteria, whilst others have no requirements at all.  

These requirements can act as barriers to many low-income tenants, reducing the pool of 

available housing. This chapter will explore how prevalent these requirements are, including 

looking at the role of financial requirement and person requirements. The chapter will 

conclude by reflecting on the combined impact of these requirements on the availability 

of housing for low-income renters.     

4.1 Financial requirements 

One of the biggest challenges faced by low-income renters in Wales when seeking to rent 

accommodation is the need to make up front payments before they can let the property. 

Thousands of landlords across Wales require tenants to pay a deposit or a bond on their 

property.   

Of the 5,206 adverts surveyed by the Bevan Foundation between May and December 2021, 

2,675 (51.4 per cent) required a deposit and set out its value in the advert. Of these, 1,435 

(54 per cent) required a prospective tenant to pay a deposit that was worth less than one 

month rent, 767 (29 per cent) asked for deposit that was equal to a month  rent, whilst 473 

(18 per cent) asked for a deposit that was more than a month  rent. The most extreme 

example we found was a landlord asking for 

rent.  

When looking at shared accommodation a mixed picture emerges. In total 37 per cent 

(900) of shared accommodation properties advertised asked for a deposit that was worth 

less than one month  rent.  Nea

rent whilst 11 per cent (267) of shared accommodation properties advertised on the market 

required a deposit equivalent to more than one month rent.  

The situation for someone searching for one-bedroom properties is far less restrictive. Of 

the 742 one-bed adverts, only 151 (20 per cent) made any reference to a deposit. Of those 

that did require a deposit 60 required a deposit equivalent to more than one month  rent, 

with another 64 requiring a deposit equal to one month  rent. A further 22 requested a 

deposit less than the equivalent of one month rent.  

The primary reason why landlords require tenants to pay deposits up front is to minimise 

their financial risk. Many landlords view deposits as a tool that can reduce the risk of letting 

their property to a tenant who may fall into arrears or damage their property, or as a form 

of insurance if this were to happen.62 There is some evidence that concerns about financial 

security are a particular motivator for landlords who let a single property, with many of 

these solo landlords 63 

Tudalen y pecyn 27



   
 

20 
 

Whatever the motivations of landlords in requiring tenants to pay an upfront deposit, the 

impact can be significant. We heard from several tenants about how large deposits had 

made searching for a home extremely challenging. The effect is to increase their risk of 

homelessness and trap people in temporary accommodation. 

 

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant, southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

 

Alice Jones, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 21/12/2021 

Landlord financial requirements do more than just restrict the number of properties that 

are accessible to people on low-incomes. As with the LHA rent gap, many tenants feel 

they have no choice but to seek to access housing that they struggle to afford. This can put 

people in significant financial hardship, and push some into debt.  

 

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

,000 before you even move in. Admin fees, rent up front, 

deposit, moving fees all had to be paid. I had to borrow all that money.  

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant (reflecting on her experience as a tenant in 

the private rental sector), southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

Repaying any money borrowed can place tenants under significant financial stress. These 

challenges are particularly acute for tenants whose rent is higher than the LHA rate. Over 

 arrears and facing 

homelessness.    

The need to borrow money to cover such up-

and family. Many tenants have few options bar borrowing money from friends and family 

when looking to rent a house. Tenants are all too aware of the pressure this puts them 

under.  

first deposit and my first 6 months   

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

4.2 Person requirements 

Landlords also have a diverse range of methods to screen prospective tenants. Our analysis 

of property advertisements highlighted requirements in the advertisement for background 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



   
 

21 
 

or credit checks, minimum income requirements, guarantors and employed status.  It is 

important to note that not all requirements may be specified in the advert  others may 

only emerge at the letting stage.  

Credit and background checks were widely used by landlords.  In total 1,075 of the adverts 

analysed by the Bevan Foundation explicitly mentioned that tenants would have to undergo 

a credit check, broader background checks or provide a reference before they could rent 

a property. Of the shared accommodation adverts, 841 (35 per cent) referenced these 

requirements. In comparison, just 52 (7 per cent) of one-bedroom property adverts 

required the same checks.  

Minimum income requirements were less common, being specified in 27 adverts. The 

average minimum income level was £20,000 a year, with rents on average accounting for 

37 per cent of the minimum income requested. Seven one-bedroom adverts referenced a 

minimum income, on average requiring an income of at least £16,000. Six shared 

accommodation adverts had the same requirement, with an average income requirement 

of £17,000. 

Guarantors are also used by landlords as a pre-requisite, although we found that it is 

relatively rare for this requirement to be specified in rental adverts. Of the adverts analysed 

by the Bevan Foundation, 25 required a guarantor, six in shared accommodation properties 

and five in one-bedroom properties. In practise, this requirement is far more common, as 

one housing support officer stated: 

 allowed to put 

.  

Housing support officer, focus group, Swansea, 03/03/2021 

More common within the adverts we analysed were landlords requiring tenants to be 

employed or to be employed in a particular type of role. Nearly one in four adverts (1,247) 

ments were 

especially prevalent in adverts for shared accommodation properties with 943 (38 per cent) 

-

bedroom properties was more in line with the overall average with nearly a quarter (180) of 

explicitly stating that they would not rent their property to people in receipt of social 

security benefits, despite the ban on doing so.  

As with financial requirements the primary reason for landlords putting person 

requirements in place are to minimise their financial risk.64 Landlords appear to be especially 

concerned about the financial risk of letting their property to a person in receipt of benefits. 

Distinguishing between real financial concerns held by landlords and popular 

misconceptions about people in receipt of benefits can be difficult. 

found that 52 per cent of landlords in England would not let their property to a tenant in 

receipt of any benefits.65 Research on landlords in England and Wales undertaken by the 

National Residential Landlord Association (NRLA) found that 70 per cent of landlords who 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



   
 

22 
 

would not let their property to a person in receipt of benefits would not do so due to 

concern about rent being paid on time, with 62 per cent reporting that they believed that 

benefits recipients were at a higher risk of falling into arrears.66  

This research is reflected in the experiences of local authority officers. 

 [tenants in receipt of UC/ HB] unattractive for landlords because 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 

There is some evidence to suggest that closing the gap between LHA and rents could see 

some landlords become more willing to rent to tenants that are in receipt of benefits. Data 

gathered by the NRLA suggests that 23 per cent of landlords would be more willing to let 

to benefit recipients if the LHA was uplifted.67  

However, this may not be sufficient as many landlords believe that low-income tenants are 

more likely to cause damage to their property than high-income tenants. The N

research suggests that 41.5 per cent of private landlords associate Universal Credit receipts 

with anti-social behaviour.68 A further 448 (28 per cent) of landlords reported that they 

would not take advantage of any scheme that would incentivise them to let their property 

to benefit recipients, with 82 per cent of these citing concerns about property damage as 

their reason.69  

Another factor that sees landlords put requirements in place that act as a barrier to low-

income tenants accessing housing is concerns about the level of support that they would 

have to provide. These concerns were summarised by one local authority officer. 

t we will support them when things go 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 17/01/2022 

These concerns were reciprocated by some tenants with support needs, who were worried 

that they would not be provided with the same level of wrap-around support in the private 

rental sector as they would in the social housing sector. These concerns were articulated 

very clearly by one tenant.   

hat they put you in housing and leave you to your own 

 

Andrew Davies, resident in temporary accommodation, southwest Wales, 

12/08/2021 

The NRLA estimate that 26 per cent of landlords would be more willing to let their property 

to someone in receipt of Universal Credit if they had reassurances from national or local 

government that support would be available for their tenants if this were needed.70  

Tudalen y pecyn 30



   
 

23 
 

We also heard concerns that some letting agents were requiring prospective tenants to 

meet person requirements without the knowledge of landlords.  

tracked down the landlord and went through him instead. And he said he would 

I have three private flats and this is why 

 I

 

Housing support officer, focus group, Swansea, 03/03/2021 

Even if all these concerns were alleviated some landlords would still be unable to let their 

property to a tenant in receipt of benefits. The terms and conditions of many buy-to-let 

mortgages and insurance products prohibit landlords from letting their properties to people 

who are in receipt of benefits. Nearly a quarter (23.5 per cent) of landlords in England report 

that the reason they are unwilling to let to tenants that are in receipt of benefits is mortgage 

or insurance restrictions.71 

Regardless of what motivates landlords and agents to put requirements in place on who 

can let their property, the impact it can have on tenants and on homelessness can be 

significant.  

We heard from tenants who had been trapped in the homelessness system because they 

lacked guarantors.  

are coming up in Cardiff, but what is stopping me and keeping me in the 

 

Jeremy Davies, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 17/08/2021 

We heard from others who had struggled to find private landlords that were willing to let 

to them due to the fact that they claimed benefits.  

 

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant, southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

There are concerns, however, that whilst these requirements discriminate against all low-

income tenants, some groups are more badly affected than others. For example, we heard 

concerns that migrants and some Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups face especially 

acute challenges. These challenges are twofold.  

First, many migrants often lack UK-based guarantors, references, or credit history. This 

means that many recently arrived migrants have no access to the information required to 

satisfy many landlord requirements. In one of our focus groups, it was noted that this has 

been a significant barrier for the Portuguese community in north Wales.72 Another tenant 

told us; 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



   
 

24 
 

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of Universal Credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

As many as 25 per cent of landlords in England have stated that they would not let to a 

tenant without a British passport.73  

Second, we heard concerns that the discriminatory practices were also faced by British 

passport holders from some Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds.74 This was in 

may arise from renting -  75   

We also heard some concerns from disabled tenants or tenants with a long-term health 

condition that landlord requirements were preventing them from accessing housing. We 

heard from one tenant that felt that landlords were reluctant to allow him to rent their 

property due to his long-term health condition. 

 

Jeremy Davies, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 17/08/2021 

People currently in temporary accommodation were also identified as a group that faced a 

heightened risk of failing landlord personal requirements.  

homeless hostel] o

 

Jeremy Davies, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 17/08/2021 

This sentiment was echoed by local authority staff.  

I correspond with letting agents. As 

 

Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 17/01/2022 

The impact of landlord requirements can stretch further than limiting access to housing. 

The whole process of having to provide evidence to satisfy landlord requirements is 

laborious and can take its toll on both tenants and support staff.  

them complete an Experian check, explain why their credit rating may be poor. We 

have to jump through a bunch of hoops, which is fine because that is my job. But 

when you are expecting people to do it, and they keep on getting knocked back all 

 

Housing support officer, focus group, Swansea, 03/03/2021 

This can have a determinantal impact on tenants, entrenching a sense of stigma and 

affecting their wellbeing.  

Tudalen y pecyn 32



   
 

25 
 

because your [Universal C

 

John Fletcher, resident in temporary accommodation, southwest Wales, 

12/08/2021 

/ letting agent] 

 

Alice Jones, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 21/12/2021 

4.3 Impact on available housing  

Landlord requirements make it extremally difficult for low-income tenants to access 

housing. In total, 33 per cent (1,731) of all adverts examined by the Bevan Foundation 

mentioned at least one requirement that could act as a barrier for a low-income renter that 

was looking for accommodation.76  

When looking by bedroom type these barriers were even more prevalent within shared 

accommodation properties with 1,125 (46 per cent) adverts featuring at least one 

requirement that was likely to act as a barrier to a low-income tenant. For one-bedroom 

properties, 256 (35 per cent) of the advertised properties included similar requirements. 

This may be an underestimate as the figure does not take into account any landlord 

requirements or prejudices that are not advertised online.   

The impact of all this pressure is to further reduce the number of properties that are 

accessible for people on low-income. Of the 200 properties that were advertised at or 

below LHA rates between May and December 2021 in 10 Welsh local authorities, 92 had 

some additional requirement that would act as a barrier to low-income tenants being able 

to rent the property.77 This means only 2.1 per cent of properties that were advertised across 

the 10 local authorities would be accessible to low-income renters.   

barriers, 80 were shared accommodation properties. This represents 3.3 per cent of the 

shared accommodation properties that were advertised in the 10 local authority areas 

examined by the Bevan Foundation. Just 16 one-bedroom properties were available at LHA 

rates and had no further barriers for tenants, 2.2 per cent of the total advertised.   

 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



   
 

26 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Table 3  Properties with no LHA gap and no additional requirements   

Local Authority Properties with 
no LHA gap 

Properties with 
requirements 

Percentage 
available (%)  

Cardiff 72 33 1.4 

Conwy 5 0 3.5 

Denbighshire 2 1 0.7 

Flintshire 44 28 4.1 

Gwynedd 58 24 8 

Pembrokeshire 1 0 0.5 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 10 1 2.2 

Swansea 4 1 0.6 

Torfaen 3 3 0 

10-authority average 200 92 46 

Merthyr Tydfil is not included due to no houses found  

Tudalen y pecyn 34



   
 

27 
 

5. Quality, suitability, and security 

The combined effect of the LHA-rent gap and landlord requirements mean that many 

tenants have an extremely limited choice when searching for a property to rent. The 

previous two chapters have highlighted how such pressures mean that many tenants are 

left in financially precarious circumstances and how people can be trapped within the 

homelessness system.  

Other key themes that emerged through our research have included the variable quality of 

accommodation available for low-income renters, concerns about landlord conduct and 

the impact of the lack of security of tenure. This chapter will explore each in turn and 

consider how they can have both an impact on the wellbeing of tenants and put extra strain 

on the homelessness system.  

5.1 Quality and suitability 

The poor quality of many properties at the bottom end of the rental market was something 

acknowledged by both stakeholders and renters during our research. Indeed, one local 

authority officer referred to many of the properties that low-income renters are able to rent 

as the 78 The experiences of some low-income renters suggest 

that this vivid description is not far from the mark.  

through. There were rats behind the oven that were 

simple things like that. 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

These concerns echo the findings of earlier research. Research undertaken by Shelter 

Cymru in 2020 found that 41 per cent of renters had at least one problem with their home, 

with 21 per cent of private renters experiencing problems with mould, damp or 

condensation.79 The proportion of low-income renters experiencing such issues is likely to 

be even higher with Shelter Cymru research dating back to 2015 finding that nearly half of 

low-income tenants had problems with damp or mould. 80 

There is a body of evidence that shows that living in cold and poor-quality housing can be 

a cause of ill-health.81 It can also create a sense of isolation for tenants, with people unable 

to ask friends and family to visit.  

ecause of the risks caused by the mould.  

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant (talking about her experience as a tenant in 

the private rental sector), southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

These challenges can be especially pronounced for tenants living in energy inefficient 

housing. We heard from some low-income tenants that could not afford to adequately 

heat their home given it was so energy inefficient.  

Tudalen y pecyn 35



   
 

28 
 

to heat it on a Sunday for my 

 

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant, (talking about her experience as a tenant in 

the private rental sector), southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

Living in energy inefficient housing can also have long term cost implications. The 

additional cost of heating an energy inefficient home can be significant. This means that 

many low-income tenants must not only find enough money to cover the gap between 

LHA and rents, but they must also cover large energy bills.  

Tenant concerns about housing quality extended beyond the general upkeep of properties. 

Over the course of our research, we spoke with low-income disabled people who had 

faced significant challenges finding properties within the private rental sector that met their 

needs. The lack of adapted housing available in the private rental sector at rents that are 

affordable to low-income renters mean that many people can become trapped in 

r needs.  

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

We heard from one tenant who had been forced to move into temporary accommodation 

due to this shortage of adapted housing. He reported that it had taken social services two 

years to find him accommodation that was suitable for his needs.82  

The variable quality and adequacy of rental properties at the bottom end of the market can 

present real challenges to low-income renters. Many of these challenges are exacerbated 

by landlord practices.  

5.2 Landlord conduct 

The way that some landlords operate can exacerbate the challenges faced by low-income 

renters, in a variety of ways.   

The most common concerns raised by tenants that the Bevan Foundation engaged with 

related to failure by landlords to repair properties in a timely and satisfactory manner.  

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

It is likely that the pandemic has made household repairs a particularly acute problem. 

Restrictions put in place to stop the spread of Covid-19 and the knock-on impact of the 

pandemic on the availability of construction supplies has placed pressure on the 

construction industry. Research undertaken by Shelter Cymru found that 61 per cent of 

private tenants who had identified at least one problem with their property during the 

pandemic had not had the issue resolved.83  

Tudalen y pecyn 36



   
 

29 
 

Some of these issues pre-date the pandemic, however. Research undertaken in 2015 found 

that nearly a quarter of tenants reported that landlords had not carried out repairs or 

addressed concerns about the condition of the property.84 Even where landlords do act the 

result is not always satisfactory.  

We heard from tenants about how landlords only undertook superficial repair work for any 

issues they reported rather than address the root cause. Common examples given included 

painting over damp or mould rather than seeking to take action to stop the problem.85 We 

heard from tenants who had been warned not to use certain appliances as they were in a 

dangerous condition, with no subsequent work being undertaken to rectify the fault.  

They said there was water in the sockets because of the damp. They did nothing 

 

Chloe Andrews, social housing tenant (talking about her experience as a tenant in 

the private rental sector), southeast Wales, 06/10/2021 

Others reported landlords failing to repair serious issues.  

There was water coming through, and I called him again, and he gave me the old 

 

Suzy Bird, private rental sector tenant, southwest Wales, 03/03/2022 

impact on their lives due to their fear of being evicted if they did so.  

 

-go-r

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

The experiences of these tenants are not unique. Previous research has found that more 

than one in 10 tenants do not complain about housing conditions or challenge a rent 

increase because of fear of eviction, with the figure being higher among people in receipt 

of housing-related benefits.86 

The provisions within the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 prohibiting retaliatory evictions 

should go some way to alleviate these concerns.87 With the Act set to come into force 

summer of 2022, the position of tenants should be strengthened.88 As has been highlighted 

elsewhere in this report, landlords across Wales continue to use practices that have been 

prohibited.89 Another example of such prohibited practice was provided to us by a tenant 

who was struggling to afford their energy bills.  

Tudalen y pecyn 37



   
 

30 
 

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

Concerns about landlord conduct are therefore likely to continue to be a real challenge for 

low-income renters, especially given the shortage of other properties that are available on 

the market at LHA rates.  

5.3 Security of tenure 

We have also revealed issues relating to security of tenure.  Private sector landlords are 

permitted to bring a tenancy to an end on multiple grounds.90 Perhaps the most 

contentious of these has been section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 which permits landlords 

to bring a tenancy to an end on any grounds, more commonly known as no fault evictions.91 

Prior to the pandemic a landlord issuing a section 21 eviction was only required to provide 

a tenant with a two-month notice period before their tenancy would come to an end.92 

This provided tenants with a very short window in which to find alternative 

accommodation, putting them at a heightened risk of homelessness.  

 

Hakim Ali, resident in temporary accommodation, south Wales, 17/08/2021 

The short period of section 21 notices not only puts low-income tenants at greater risk of 

homelessness but also had an impact on their ability to set down roots and to connect with 

local communities.  

int in me getting unpacked, putting all my clothes in the wardrobe, 

of stuff. But it would be nice to go somewhere and be able to get plants and pictures 

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

To address some of these challenges the Welsh Government have enacted new legislation 

that will see the minimum notice period for a no-fault eviction increase from two to six 

months.93 The new legislation will come into force on 15th July 2022 and will undoubtedly 

ease some the pressures felt by low-income tenants.94  

The potential benefits of this legislative change were demonstrated to us by the experience 

of one tenant. He had been forced to move into temporary accommodation following 

being evicted from his home. He felt that he had been pushed to move into an inadequate 

one-bedroom property in the private rental sector as opposed to a more suitable property 

in the social housing sector. A longer eviction notice would have provided the local 

authority with more time to find a more suitable property for the tenant.  

Tudalen y pecyn 38



   
 

31 
 

they said they would take 6-8 weeks to fix it, and the place I was in they wanted me 

out as soon as possible. It was expense really, because it was in a hotel. It was £75 a 

 

Lloyd Thomas, private rental sector tenant, mid Wales, 09/08/21 

Other insights gathered through our research, raises concerns that there is a risk that many 

low-income tenants will not fully benefit from the extension of the notice period.  The 

changes that will legally come into effect in Wales on 15th July 2022 will, in essence put 

some of the temporary measures introduced over the course of the pandemic on a 

permanent basis. On 24th March 2020 the Welsh Government announced that the 

minimum notice period for a no-fault eviction would be increased to six months, with the 

change remaining for the duration of the pandemic.95  

During our research the Bevan Foundation heard from one low-income tenant who had 

been issued with a six-month notice for a no-fault eviction in 2021. Given the shortage of 

properties available at LHA rates and with landlord requirements reducing this availability 

further, she was finding it extremally difficult to find alternative accommodation, even with 

the extended notice period. These challenges were being exacerbated by the approach 

being taken by her local authority.  

month to evi .  

Megan James, private rental sector tenant, in receipt of universal credit, southeast 

Wales, 06/10/2021 

She was not alone in facing such a challenge. 

.  

Housing support officer, focus group, southwest Wales, 03/03/2022 

Landlord conduct could also undermine the extra protection provided by an extended 

notice period. We heard that some landlords have deliberately made life difficult for tenants 

in order to encourage them to move out before the end of the six-month notice period. 

your life as awkward as possible.  

Suzy Bird, private rental sector tenant, southwest Wales, 03/03/2022 

Extending the minimum notice period, as of itself may therefore only have a limited impact 

on reducing homelessness.  

Single renters under 35 face a further challenge with regards to security of tenure. Many 

shared accommodation properties analysed by the Bevan Foundation were advertised via 

Spareroom.com, where people were looking for a lodger/ flatmate. Such properties are 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



   
 

32 
 

predominantly made available on a licence rather than a lease. This means that a person 

living in such a property is provided with fewer legal protections on issues ranging from 

housing quality to protection from eviction than a person occupying a property on a 

lease.96 Any low-income tenant living in such accommodation would therefore be living in 

extremely precarious circumstances. This precarity means that many local authorities are 

reluctant to use shared accommodation made available under such circumstances to 

house people from the homelessness system, reducing the available stock further.97  

The Renting Homes Wales Act 2016 does take action to address some of these challenges. 

Under the Act most individuals who rent their home under a lease or a licence will be 

deemed to have an occupation contract.98 This step will reduce the different legal 

protections offered to people based on whether they occupy their property based on a 

lease or a licence.99 One of the exceptions to this, is people who are living with their 

landlord as a lodger. This means that many rooms advertised on websites such as 

Spareroom.com are likely to continue to offer limited security for tenants.  

The legislative measures set to come into force over the summer through the Renting 

Homes (Wales) Act 2016 will undoubtedly strengthen the position of low-income tenants. 

It is clear, however, that for these to have the maximum impact in improving the quality of 

rental accommodation and landlord practices, they must be viewed as part of a broader 

reform of the housing system in Wales.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



   
 

33 
 

6. The role of social housing 

This report has primarily focused on the position of low-income renters within the private 

rental sector. To fully understand the challenges facing low-income renters, however, it is 

important to consider the role of the social housing sector.  

The social housing sector plays an important role in providing housing for people in Wales. 

Approximately 16 per cent of all dwellings in Wales are social housing, compared with 14 

per cent that are private rentals.100 There are also some important differences as to the level 

of financial assistance that low-income renters are entitled to within the social housing 

sector compared to renters in the private rental sector.  

The LHA does not apply in the social housing sector.101 

face many of the challenges outlined in chapter 3 that are caused by the LHA rent gap. On 

top of this, there is no shared accommodation rate in the social housing sector.102 This 

means that single people under 35 are entitled to assistance to cover the cost of renting a 

one-bedroom property.  

Tenants in the social housing sector also benefit from greater legislative and regulatory 

protections. No fault evictions, for example, are not permitted within the social housing 

sector, meaning that tenants have greater long-term security.103  

A shortage of social housing means that the role that the sector can play in addressing 

some of the challenges that have been identified in this report is limited. This section will 

explore the extent of the shortage of one-bedroom social housing in Wales and will 

examine trends in social housing construction to explore whether the shortage is reducing.  

6.1 Available social housing 

In 2020/21, the total social housing stock in Wales stood at 235,557 dwellings.104 Of these, 

62,907 (27 per cent) were one-bedroom units.105  

There are two broad categories of social housing: general needs and supported housing. 

General needs accommodation is open to anyone, whilst supported housing is reserved for 

specific groups. The groups include older people, disabled people or people who require 

additional living support. 

General needs housing accounts for the vast majority of social housing stock in Wales, with 

nearly 85 per cent of stock being general needs properties.106 When looking at one-

bedroom stock, however, the picture is different. Of the 62,907 one-bedroom properties, 

26,251 are supported housing or extra care units, 42 per cent of all one-bedroom stock.107 

This means that there are only 36,656 general needs one-bedroom social housing units in 

Wales.108  

Comparing social housing stock with demand is a difficult task.  One way in which it is 

possible to get a sense of how closely stock matches demand is to look at the total number 

of households claiming Housing Benefit and the housing element of Universal Credit in 

Wales. This is an imperfect measure. Not all benefit recipients want to live in social housing. 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



   
 

34 
 

There may be some low-income tenants who opt to live in a two-bedroom property and 

cover any additional rent themselves, whilst others who currently live with their family or 

with a partner may prefer to live by themselves. There may also be people who are not in 

receipt of any benefits that may wish to live in social housing if there were plentiful supply. 

Despite these limitations, it still provides a useful insight into understanding the extent of 

the shortage of social housing in Wales.    

Single person households account for a significant proportion of benefit recipients. There 

are approximately 210,000 working age adult households in Wales who claim help towards 

the cost of their rent.109 Of these 47 per cent (~98,000) are single person households with 

no children.110 The available one-bedroom social housing stock in Wales could therefore 

only provide accommodation to 64 per cent of single person, working age households 

receiving help towards their housing costs.  

Available social housing stock for low-income single person households is likely to be even 

more constricted. There are over 12,000 couple no child dependent households in Wales 

that receive help with their housing cost.111 Most of these households would only be entitled 

to receive benefits to cover the cost of living in in a one-bedroom property.112 When these 

households are taken into account the total number of one-bedroom social housing stock 

in Wales could only provide accommodation to 57 per cent of households that are entitled 

to benefit support to live in one-bedroom accommodation.  

This figure is likely to be lower still. There are roughly 60,000 households of state-pension 

age that claim Housing Benefit.113 This figure includes single people with no dependent 

households, and couples with no dependents. When these households are taken into 

account the total number of one-bedroom social housing stock in Wales could provide 

accommodation to just 37 per cent of single person and couple with no dependents 

households that claim Housing Benefit or the housing element of universal credit.  

Chart 2  number of households in receipt of Housing Benefit / the housing element 

of Universal Credit in comparison to the stock of social housing  

Source: Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation  

97,197

60,807

12,376

62,907

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

Working age single with no dependents Pensioners

Working age couple with no dependents Number of single-bedroom social homes

Tudalen y pecyn 42



   
 

35 
 

Whilst putting an exact number on the shortage of one-bedroom social housing properties 

is a challenge it is clear that there is a significant gap between available stock and likely 

demand. For some low-income renters, this shortage means that they have no choice but 

to seek accommodation in the private rental sector, for others it can push them into 

properties with more than one bedroom, seeing them hit by the bedroom tax (there are 

approximately 20,000 households in Wales that are entitled to benefits to help with the 

cost of a one-bedroom property affected). 114 Exploring the trends in social housing stock 

provides an indication as to how significant a challenge this shortage is likely to be in the 

short to medium.  

6.2 Trends in social housing stock 

To understand how significant the shortage of one-bedroom social housing stock is likely 

to remain over the coming years this section will focus on developments made over the 

last decade, focusing on the rate at which the number of social housing properties has 

grown.  

In 2020/21, the total social housing stock in Wales stood at 235,557.115 Between 2010/11 

and 2020/21 the total social housing stock increased by 9,998.116 Of these properties 4,320 

were one-bedroom units, accounting for 43 per cent of the total increase. These additional 

4,320 units saw the total number of one-bedroom accommodation units available at social 

rent in Wales increase by 7 per cent.  

When looking at the position in each local authority a varied picture emerges. There has 

been an increase in the total one-bedroom social housing stock in every Welsh local 

authority.117 In Blaenau Gwent, Wrexham and Denbighshire the total number of one-

bedroom social housing units only increased by 12, 14 and 17 respectively.118 In Cardiff on 

the other hand, the total one-bedroom social housing stock increased by 752.119 Only in 

five Welsh local authorities did one bedroom social housing stock increase by more than 

an average of 20 a year.120 

A slightly different picture emerges when looking at the increase in one-bedroom social 

housing units as a proportion of existing one-bedroom stock. Blaenau Gwent, Wrexham 

and Denbighshire unsurprisingly report the lowest proportional increase in their one-

bedroom social housing stock with an increase of less than 1 per cent over a decade. It is 

Rhondda Cynon Taf, however, that has seen the largest proportional increase in its one-

bedroom stock with an increase of 14 per cent.121  
  
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



   
 

36 
 

Chart 3  Increase in total one-bedroom social housing stock by local authority 
(number and percentage) 

Source: Source: StatsWales. (2021b, October 26). Total stock at social rent by local authority area 

and accommodation type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-

Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype 

At current rates, the single bedroom housing stock in Wales is growing on average by 

approximately 432 units a year. At this pace, it would take 248 years for the single-bedroom 

social housing stock to match the number of single person and couple households without 

child dependents that claim Housing Benefit and the housing element of Universal Credit. 

The capacity of the social housing sector to be a part of the solution to challenge created 

by LHA is therefore likely to be limited unless there is a significant increase in the rate that 

new social housing units become available to rent.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

S
to

c
k
 I

n
c

re
a
se

 (
%

)

S
to

c
k
 I

n
c

re
a
se

 (
to

ta
l)

Change in Social Housing stock Percentage Increase

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype


   
 

37 
 

7. Conclusion and recommendations 

High rents and low incomes make accessing safe, secure and warm accommodation a 

challenge for many. The social security system should offer a safety net for all low-income 

households struggling to meet their housing costs. As this report has demonstrated, this is 

not the case. The significant gap that has developed between LHA rates and rents mean 

that the support provided through the social security system is not enough. This leaves 

many households facing an impossible decision, move into a property where rents are 

higher than the LHA rate and risk being pushed into significant financial hardship, or move 

into poor quality accommodation, or seek assistance through the homelessness system. 

These challenges are especially acute for single people under 35 who are only entitled to 

the shared accommodation LHA rate.   

Fundamentally, the power to address these problems rests with the UK Government. It is 

the UK government that takes decisions on how the LHA is set, that decides the level of 

financial support provided and that makes decisions in relation to the broader social 

security system. If the UK Government does not take action to address the issues identified 

in this report, then low-income households will continue to struggle.  

However, we have identified several areas where more effective policies could be pursued 

by the Welsh Government and Welsh local authorities to assist low-income households. 

Such policies will not eradicate the challenges caused by the LHA, but they could mitigate 

against its worse effects.  

With rents continuing to rise it is imperative that action is taken immediately to ease the 

challenges identified in this report. Failure to do so will see more people pushed into the 

homelessness system, and many more pushed into financial hardship.  

This conclusion sets out our calls for reform under five heading, each seeking to address a 

different challenge identified in this report.  

 7.1 Reforming LHA 

LHA rates are set at levels that are simply too low to cover the rents of low-income renters. 

Reforming the LHA is key if we are to find long term solutions to problems outlined in this 

report. There are four measures that should be taken to achieve this.  

Annual uprating of LHA  

This report has demonstrated just how far below rents LHA rates are. The decision to freeze 

LHA rates again in 2022/23 will only serve to exacerbate this problem leading to the 

development of an even larger LHA gap. Uplifting LHA rates annually to the contemporary 

30th percentile could be done swiftly and would ease some of the pressures facing low-

income households.  

Recommendation  The UK Government should uprate LHA annually so it keeps pace 

with rising rents. 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



   
 

38 
 

Scrap the shared accommodation rate 

Low-income single people under 35 face significant challenges when seeking to find 

accommodation in the private rental sector due to the shared accommodation rate. Single 

people under 35 are going to continue to be at a significant disadvantage as long as the 

shared accommodation rate remains in place. The UK Government could act swiftly to 

abolish the shared accommodation rate, easing the pressure faced by young renters.  

Recommendation  The UK Government should scrap the shared accommodation LHA 

rate with single tenants under 35 being entitled to the one-bedroom LHA rate.  

Improving data on rents 

To ensure that LHA rates accurately reflect market conditions it is crucial that rates are set 

based on robust data. This report has raised concerns that there are several shortcomings 

built into the current system: 

• There is no obligation on landlords to share how much they charge for rent 

meaning that data gathered by rent officers may not provide a true overview of 

local rental markets.  

• The rents of approximately 40 per cent of all Welsh tenants are discounted due to 

the fact that they receive housing benefit or the housing element of universal 

credit. 

• Small sample sizes mean that LHA rates are sometimes set using data from other 

BRMAs.  

• There are concerns about whether some BRMAs are truly representative.  

To address these concerns there are there are three actions that should be taken: 

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should mandate all landlords in Wales to 

share how much they charge for rent on an annual basis. This data should be collected 

and processed by Rent Smart Wales as part of their broader activities.  

Recommendation  Welsh local authorities should use existing mechanisms to ask the 

UK Government to review Welsh BRMAs.  

Recommendation  If the UK Government is unwilling to review BRMAs the Welsh 

Government should request for the devolution of powers to allow them to do so.  

Review of LHA rates 

In the medium term the UK Government should undertake a review of the way that LHA 

rates are set. The issues on data identified in this report mean that it is extremally difficult 

to determine at what percentile LHA rates should be set to provide low-income renters 

with enough assistance to cover their rent. The UK Government should work with the 

devolved governments and local authorities to address these data issues before taking a 

full review of LHA. 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



   
 

39 
 

Recommendation  The UK Government should undertake a review to determine at 

what percentile LHA rates should be set to provide low-income renters with enough 

assistance to cover their rent.  

7.2 Closing the gap between LHA and rents 

Increasing the LHA is the most significant measure that can be taken to close the gap 

between LHA and rents. There are actions that could be taken by the Welsh Government 

and by Welsh local authorities to seek to close the gap. 

Action to top up rents   

There are mechanisms at the disposal of the Welsh Government and Welsh local authorities 

that would allow them to top up the rent of low-income renters to cover the LHA gap. The 

most significant of these are Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs).  

DHPs remain an under-utilised tool in Wales to cover the LHA gap.122 Whilst we 

acknowledge the concerns raised by several local authorities about the long-term viability 

of DHPs we believe that the crisis in housing affordability is so acute that it is right to focus 

on short term measures to ease the immediate pressure faced by families.  

There are measures that could be taken swiftly in this area.  

Recommendation  All Welsh local authorities should spend their DHP allocation in full.   

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should guarantee local authorities that 

their DHP pot will not fall below a designated floor. If the DWP cuts DHP allocations 

the Welsh Government would then step in and fund the difference. This would provide 

local authorities with more long-term security, addressing some current concerns.  

Action to control rents 

In addition to taking action to top up rents the Welsh Government does have the ability to 

take action to control rents. It can do so either by incentivising landlords to let their 

properties at LHA level or by legally requiring them to do so.  

The Welsh Government have already taken action to establish an incentive-based scheme. 

The 

incentivise landlords to let their properties to low-income tenants at 90 per cent of LHA 

rates.123 As more information becomes available as the scheme develops it is vital that the 

Welsh Government reflects on the strengths and weaknesses of the scheme, refining it to 

meet the needs of low-income tenants.   

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should regularly review the support 

provided through its Leasing Scheme, amending the scheme as necessary to assist as 

many low-income tenants as possible.  

Discussion have also already started in Wales with regards to the possibility of controlling 

rents. The Co-operation Agreement between Labour and Plaid Cymru stated that proposals 
124 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



   
 

40 
 

Rent caps could have a role to play in closing the gap between rents and LHA. Both tenants 

and housing support officers expressed concerns that if the LHA was uplifted, landlords 

would raise their rent accordingly. Rent caps could serve as a tool to ensure landlords do 

not immediately raise their rents and provide market stability at the lower end of the market. 

Recommendation  The forthcoming white paper on rent caps should focus on the 

needs of low-income tenants. Focusing on rents at the upper end of the market is 

unlikely to make a difference to the challenges facing low-income tenants.   

7.3 Protecting tenants  

As this report has demonstrated, even if action were taken to close the LHA gap many low-

income tenants would still face challenges finding long term accommodation due to 

landlord requirements and local authority and Welsh Government practices. There are four 

sets of actions that could be taken rapidly at a Welsh and local level that could ease some 

of these challenges. 

Addressing unfair landlord requirements  

Approximately a third of properties advertised in the ten local authority areas examined by 

the Bevan Foundation included provisions that are likely to prohibit low-income tenants 

from renting the property. We believe that there is a case for introducing legislation to 

prohibit such practices.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should introduce legislation that prohibits 

discriminatory and unfair landlord requirements. This includes excessive deposits and 

person requirements that relates to the employment status of the tenant.  

Even if the Welsh Government took action to prohibit unfair and discriminatory landlord 

requirements many low-income tenants are likely to continue to face a challenge when 

meeting more legitimate requirements.  

A number of local authorities have already developed schemes that provide support to low-

Scheme also provides an opportunity to address some of these concerns.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should work with local authorities to 

explore how they can support more low-income tenants meet landlord requirements. 

For example, the Welsh Government should explore how its Leasing Scheme could be 

developed to allow local authorities to act as guarantors for low-income tenants.  

Eviction support  

-month notice 

period for no-fault evictions is to be welcomed. There are concerns however that the 

potential benefits of this legislative change may not be realised without change in operating 

practice.  

Tudalen y pecyn 48



   
 

41 
 

Recommendation  Welsh local authorities should start the process of providing 

support to tenants who have been issued with an eviction notice at the beginning of 

the six-month period, rather than wait until the final two months of the notice period.  

We have also highlighted concerns that landlords could place pressure on tenants to force 

them out of their property before the end of the six-month notice period. The Welsh 

Government should actively monitor how prevalent this practice becomes.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should actively monitor whether landlords 

try and exploit any loopholes in the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016. If there is evidence 

of this taking place the Welsh Government should look at international best practice to 

consider how tenants can be better protected.125 

Empowering private rental sector tenants  

A concern that has emerged through our work is that private rental sector tenants are not 

empowered, both in terms of knowing their legal rights or in terms of having a strong voice 

to join in policy debates.  

The introduction of occupation contracts under the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 may 

go some way to dealing with this challenge. New tenants will be provided with some 

information about support organisations through the contract.126 We believe that there is 

space to go further.  

Recommendation  Local authorities should work with support organisations in their 

area to produce a pamphlet for tenants with useful contact details for support. The 

pamphlet should also include a list of responsibilities that a landlord must fulfil. The 

Welsh Government should mandate all private rental sector landlords to share this 

pamphlet with their tenants at the start of a new tenancy.  

Even where tenants are aware of their legal rights some do not take action due to the fear 

of being evicted by their landlord. We believe the establishment of tenancy unions could 

serve to empower tenants, ensuring they are supported to exercise their rights. Tenancy 

unions in Germany127 and Sweden128 represent examples of particularly strong groups that 

provide support for tenants. These groups provide advice for tenants, negotiate rent 

increases on behalf of tenants, and cover legal costs for tenants where there are disputes.  

These tenancy groups are funded by the tenants, rather than from government. However, 

we believe that there is a case for the Welsh Government to support their development in 

Wales, to complement the work of other stakeholders within the sector.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should fund and promote the 

establishment of tenant organisations in each local authority.  

Understanding the sector 

There is a severe shortage of publicly available data on the state on the private rental sector 

in Wales. As already highlighted, there are likely to be significant shortcoming in the data 

collected on rents. This is not the only weakness, however. For example, there is no Welsh 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



   
 

42 
 

equivalent to the English Housing Survey.  We believe that policy must be based in strong 

evidence, there is a clear need to take action to address these gaps in our knowledge.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should conduct undertake an annual 

survey of the private rental sector in Wales. Working with Rent Smart Wales to share 

information.  

7.4 Increasing the supply of social housing  

The long-term solution to the challenges caused by LHA is to increase the availability of 

housing within the social housing sector. As this report has highlighted, however, the 

number of social housing properties currently being constructed is not enough to make a 

significant difference. 

If the social housing sector is to play a role in providing a solution to this challenge the 

Welsh Government must explore means to quickly increase social housing stock. 

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should significantly increase investment in 

construction of new social homes. 

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should explore, and support means of 

increasing social housing stock quickly, including purchasing empty homes and making 

greater use of modular housing. 

Increasing the construction of social housing at the rate required will not be a cheap 

process. One option that could increase the resources at the disposal of the Welsh 

Government is to explore whether powers over housing benefit and the housing element 

of universal credit could be devolved. This could allow the Welsh Government to move 

from a model that subsidises rent to a system that subsidises supply.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should undertake a review to assess the 

challenges and opportunities that would be presented by devolving the housing 

element of Universal Credit and Housing Benefit.  

7.5 A Welsh Home Guarantee  

As this report has demonstrated the combined impact of the LHA and landlord 

requirements can undermine the efforts of local authority housing and homelessness 

teams to prevent homelessness, and to find long term accommodation for people already 

within the homelessness system.  There is more that the Welsh Government can do in 

collaboration with local authorities to overcome these challenges.  

We recommend that the Welsh Government establish a Welsh Home Guarantee in 

partnership with local authorities. Such a guarantee would see homeless people or people 

who are at risk of homelessness provided with a comprehensive package of assistance 

that is tailored to the needs of the household. We envisage that the guarantee would be 

delivered by local authorities but with Welsh Government providing adequate resources 

to enable them to do so.  

Tudalen y pecyn 50



   
 

43 
 

Among the actions we recommend that local authorities should be permitted to take with 

the support of the Welsh Government under the guarantee are: 

• Act as a guarantor on a lease. 

• Provide a reference for prospective tenants. 

• Commit to providing a DHP to cover any rent gap for at least the first twelve 

months of a new tenancy, with this support rolled over where appropriate.  

• Work with people to ensure that they receive any financial support that they are 

entitled to. Such support includes the Discretionary Assistance Fund, the Council 

Tax Reduction Scheme and the Winter Fuel Support. 

Providing such support could significantly increase the money that low-income renters 

have in their pockets, easing the impact of the rent gap, whilst also addressing some of 

the issues highlighted in this report with regards to landlord practices.  

Recommendation  The Welsh Government should establish a Welsh Home 

Guarantee to ensure that homeless people and people threatened with homelessness 

are provided with an adequate level of assistance to find accommodation. Such 

assistance should primarily be provided by local authorities with the Welsh 

Government ensuring that they have the required resources to do so.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



   
 

44 
 

Annex 1. What we have done 

The findings in this report are based on both qualitative and quantitative research 

that was conducted between March 2021 to March 2022. This section provides a 

short summary of the research methods adopted.  

To examine the extent of the gap that has developed between LHA and rent the 

Bevan Foundation collected data on advertised rents. This was done by scraping 

data from online letting agent sites Spareroom and Rightmove. We additionally 

collected data from informal property market sources, such as Gumtree, Craigslist, 

and Facebook Marketplace. We scraped the data in several periodic snapshots 

occurring from May 2021 to December 2021. Data gathered included the advertised 

rent as well as any other landlord requirements noted in the advert such as 

references and deposits, and any indicators of the quality of accommodation. 

Data was gathered on properties listed in ten Welsh local authority areas; Cardiff, 

Swansea, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Flintshire, Denbighshire, Conwy, Gwynedd, 

Pembrokeshire, Merthyr Tydfil and Torfaen. These local authorities were chosen to 

be representative of urban, rural, coastal and valley communities. In total, we 

collected data from 5,206 rental adverts. 

For the purpose of this report, we present data at a local authority level, rather than 

for each BRMA. We are doing so given that BMRAs are not a geographic entity used 

in other policy areas. Looking at the picture at a local authority level therefore makes 

it easier to make other policy comparisons and to discuss solutions more 

holistically. In local authorities that feature multiple BRMAs, we have calculated the 

LHA gap for each property with their respective LHA rate and calculated the average 

gap of these properties within the local authority borders. Please contact us if you 

wish to view the data broken down by BRMA.  

It should be noted that the data gathered by the Bevan Foundation is based on 

advertised rent and that the final agreed-upon rent may differ. This is an important 

distinction as LHA levels are set based on agreed rents rather than advertised rents.   

We have also used data published by the Department of Work and Pensions via 

Statxplore. The data used in this report is for July 2021.  

To complement this, we have sought to engage with people with lived experience 

of homelessness, with frontline support workers, and with stakeholders in the 

housing sector. This is to ensure the views of the people affected by housing policy 

feed directly into our research and recommendations. 

Central to our research were the views of people with direct lived experience of 

homelessness, the private rental sector, and problems with housing more generally. 

In total we conducted 14 semi-structured one-to-one interviews between August 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



   
 

45 
 

and December 2021 with people with first-hand experiences of struggling with the 

LHA gap. Two follow up interviews were conducted with people who were in the 

process of searching for new accommodation between August and December 

2021. 

Twelve of the people interviewed by the Bevan Foundation were over 35, single, 

and without dependents. Nine of the participants were in temporary 

accommodation, four in the private rental sector, and one currently in social 

housing. All names used in this report are pseudonyms.  

To support our one-to-one interviews, we arranged three focus groups, facilitated 

by Hafod, Crisis, and Together Creating Communities, Portuguese Language 

Speaking Community Wrexham, and South Riverside community groups to provide 

people with lived experience of the housing system an alternative way to share their 

experiences. Eleven joined these discussions and were provided with an 

opportunity to share their first-hand experience and to share their ideas about 

solutions to the issues with the current system.   

In addition to speaking with people with lived experience, we have also undertaken 

a series of one-to-one interviews with local authority housing officers over the 

course of our project. In total we undertook interviews with housing and 

homelessness teams in ten local authorities, broadly reflecting the geographic areas 

selected for data analysis. Alongside these we have heard from various civil servants 

within both the Welsh Government and DWP, and numerous third-party 

stakeholders, including Shelter, the National Residential Landlords Association, End 

Youth Homelessness Cymru, and Cymorth. 

Following our one-to-one interviews, we hosted two roundtable discussions with 

thirty stakeholders in the housing sector. We additionally hosted two advisory group 

meetings, attended by a selection of ten key stakeholders. This allowed us to glean 

further insights into the challenges facing the housing sector and develop ideas for 

solutions.  

We additionally conducted a survey which was designed for staff at local authorities 

and within third sector organisations. The purpose of the survey was to provide 

stakeholders with an opportunity to share their ideas about policy solutions with the 

Bevan Foundation, and to provide us with an opportunity to sense check some of 

our ideas.   

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



   
 

46 
 

 

Annex 2. List of BRMAs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Authority BRMAs covered  

Blaenau Gwent Blaenau Gwent BRMA 

Bridgend Bridgend BRMA 

Caerphilly Caerphilly BRMA 

Cardiff Cardiff BRMA 

Carmarthenshire Carmarthenshire BRMA 

Ceredigion Ceredigion BRMA* 

Conwy North Clwyd BRMA* 

Denbighshire North Clwyd BRMA* 
Wrexham BRMA* 

Flintshire Flintshire BRMA* 
North Clwyd BRMA* 
West Cheshire BRMA* 

Gwynedd North West Wales BRMA* 
South Gwynedd BRMA* 

Merthyr Tydfil Merthyr Cynon BRMA* 

Monmouthshire Monmouthshire BRMA 

Neath Port Talbot Neath Port Talbot BRMA* 

Newport  Newport BRMA 

Pembrokeshire Ceredigion BRMA* 
Pembrokeshire BRMA* 

Powys Brecon and Radnor BRMA* 
Neath Port Talbot BRMA* 
North Powys BRMA* 

Rhondda Cynon Taf Merthyr Cynon BRMA* 
Taff Rhondda BRMA* 

Swansea Swansea BRMA 

Torfaen Torfaen BRMA 

Vale of Glamorgan Vale of Glamorgan BRMA 

Wrexham Wrexham BRMA* 

Ynys Mon North West Wales BRMA* 

*  BRMA covers multiple local authorities, or a limited part of a local authority 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



   
 

47 
 

 

Annex 3. LHA rates for Apr 2020  Mar 2023 (£ per week) 

 

(BRMA) Shared 
Accommodation  

1 
bedroom 

2 
bedroom 

3 
bedroom 

4 
bedroom 

Blaenau Gwent 54.00 66.39 80.55 90.90 132.33 

Brecon and 
Radnor 

52.50 71.86 98.96 115.07 138.08 

Bridgend  58.68 109.32 109.32 115.07 156.26 

Caerphilly  75.95 79.17 103.56 108.16 138.08 

Cardiff  71.11 120.82 149.59 178.36 218.63 

Carmarthenshire  62.71 80.55 97.81 110.47 136.93 

Ceredigion  62.50 92.05 110.47 121.97 138.08 

Flintshire  87.50 92.05 120.82 136.93 184.11 

Merthyr Cynon  54.00 77.10 86.30 97.81 149.59 

Monmouthshire  75.95 95.57 126.58 149.59 179.74 

Neath Port Talbot   62.50 79.55 95.00 103.56 121.40 

Newport  75.95 90.90 113.92 126.58 172.60 

North Clwyd  58.95 80.00 113.92 132.33 166.85 

North Powys  52.50 67.89 90.90 109.32 136.93 

North West Wales  75.00 80.55 103.56 120.82 149.59 

Pembrokeshire  60.00 78.25 98.96 120.82 143.84 

South Gwynedd  58.95 74.79 87.45 103.56 121.20 

Swansea  62.50 103.56 113.92 120.82 166.16 

Taff Rhondda  54.00 75.00 92.05 98.96 137.51 

Torfaen  54.00 87.31 105.86 120.82 149.59 

Vale of 
Glamorgan 

 64.44 100.63 126.58 138.08 195.62 

West Cheshire  73.25 103.56 126.58 149.59 205.97 

Wrexham  72.84 92.05 113.92 128.88 166.85 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



   
 

48 
 

 

Annex 4. Gap between LHA rates and officially recorded 30th percentile 

(£ per week) 

(BRMA) Shared 
Accommodation  

1 
bedroom 

2 
bedroom 

3 
bedroom 

4 
bedroom 

Blaenau Gwent -6.00  1.67  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Brecon and 
Radnor 

-5.00  5.19  4.37  0.00  4.60  

Bridgend -1.32  0.00  0.00  -5.75  -4.61  

Caerphilly 2.94  -1.38  0.00  -1.16  0.00  

Cardiff 0.69  -5.76  -5.75  -5.75  0.00  

Carmarthenshire 0.00  0.00  -2.30  0.00  0.16  

Ceredigion 0.00  0.00  0.47  -2.30  -2.30  

Flintshire -0.35  0.00  0.00  -1.15  0.00  

Merthyr Cynon -6.00  1.34  0.00  -5.75  17.26  

Monmouthshire 0.58  0.06  0.00  0.00  -0.92  

Neath Port Talbot  -4.82  -1.00  -1.66  0.00  -5.18  

Newport 2.65  0.00  -1.15  -5.75  -23.02  

North Clwyd -1.30  -0.55  -1.15  0.00  0.00  

North Powys -5.00  -1.15  0.00  0.00  -1.04  

North West Wales 0.00  -6.76  -5.06  -4.60  2.76  

Pembrokeshire -5.00  -1.64  -1.05  0.00  -4.55  

South Gwynedd -1.30  -0.21  -2.91  -6.45  -4.20  

Swansea -4.82  0.00  0.00  0.00  -0.69  

Taff Rhondda -6.00  -5.00  0.00  -1.04  -0.57  

Torfaen -3.50  -1.07  2.30  0.00  0.00  

Vale of 
Glamorgan 

-0.46  2.82  -0.83  -0.38  0.00  

West Cheshire -1.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Wrexham -3.41  -3.46  0.00  -3.45  -5.75  

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



   
 

49 
 

 

References 

 
1 StatsWales. (2021, December 16). Households for which assistance has been provided by 
outcome and household type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/householdsforwhichassistancehas
beenprovided-by-outcome-householdtype 
StatsWales. (2020a, Febuary 1). Rough Sleepers by local authority. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-
by-localauthority 
2 The Bevan Foundation. (2022). State of Wales briefing: Cost of living. Merthyr Tydfil: The Bevan 
Foundation. Read more here: https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/state-of-wales-
briefing-cost-of-living/ 
3 Ibid 
4 (StatsWales, 2021) 
5 UK Government. (2016, January 22). Local Housing Allowance. Retrieved from UK Government: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-housing-allowance 
6 Department of Work and Pensions. (2009). Supporting people into work: the next stage of 
Housing Benefit reform. London: DWP. Read more here: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil
e/422155/Supporting_people_into_work-Housing_Benefit_consultation.pdf 
7 Ibid 
8 Welsh Government. (2022a, January 31). Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates from April 2022 to 
March 2023. Retrieved from Welsh Government: https://gov.wales/local-housing-allowance-lha-
rates-april-2022-march-2023 
9 Welsh Government. (2019, March 8). Rent Officers Wales. Retrieved from Welsh Government: 
https://gov.wales/rent-officers-wales 
10 UK Government. (2017, Febuary 22). Valuation Office Agency: Rent Officer Handbook. Retrieved 
from UK Government: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-office-agency-
rent-officer-handbook 
11 UK Government. (2021a, January 28). The Rent Officers (Housing Benefit Functions) Order 1997. 
Retrieved from Legislation: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/1984/2021-01-28 
12 Ibid 
13 Ibid 
14 Ibid 
15 Department of Work and Pensions. (2011). Two Year Review of the Local Housing Allowance. 
London: DWP. Read more here: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil
e/232335/lha-review-feb-2011.pdf 
16 Ibid 
17 Ibid 
18 Hobson, F., & Wilson, W. (2021). The rent safety net: changes since 2010. London: House of 
Commons Library. Read more here: 
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05638/SN05638.pdf 
19 CIH. (2019). Frozen Out. London: CIH. Read more here: 
https://www.cih.org/publications/frozen-out 
20 Pennington, J. (2020, March 26). New LHA rates: what do they mean? Retrieved from Shelter 
Blog: https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2020/03/new-lha-rates-what-do-they-mean/ 
21 UK Government. (2020, August 13). Use of Discretionary Housing Payments: financial year 2019 
to 2020. Retrieved from Offical Statistics: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/use-of-
discretionary-housing-payments-financial-year-2019-to-2020 
22 Wilmore, J. (2021, Novemeber 29). LHA rates frozen for next year, minister confirms. Retrieved 
from Inside Housing: https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/lha-rates-frozen-for-next-
year-minister-confirms-73515 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 57

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/householdsforwhichassistancehasbeenprovided-by-outcome-householdtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/householdsforwhichassistancehasbeenprovided-by-outcome-householdtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/state-of-wales-briefing-cost-of-living/
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/state-of-wales-briefing-cost-of-living/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-housing-allowance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/422155/Supporting_people_into_work-Housing_Benefit_consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/422155/Supporting_people_into_work-Housing_Benefit_consultation.pdf
https://gov.wales/local-housing-allowance-lha-rates-april-2022-march-2023
https://gov.wales/local-housing-allowance-lha-rates-april-2022-march-2023
https://gov.wales/rent-officers-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-office-agency-rent-officer-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-office-agency-rent-officer-handbook
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/1984/2021-01-28
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/232335/lha-review-feb-2011.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/232335/lha-review-feb-2011.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05638/SN05638.pdf
https://www.cih.org/publications/frozen-out
https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2020/03/new-lha-rates-what-do-they-mean/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/use-of-discretionary-housing-payments-financial-year-2019-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/use-of-discretionary-housing-payments-financial-year-2019-to-2020
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/lha-rates-frozen-for-next-year-minister-confirms-73515
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/lha-rates-frozen-for-next-year-minister-confirms-73515


   
 

50 
 

 
23 Entitled to. (2016, March 1). Benefit Changes 2016. Retrieved from Entitled to: 
https://www.entitledto.co.uk/help/Benefit_Changes_April_2016 
24 Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee. (2018). Life on the streets: preventing 
and tackling rough sleeping in Wales. Cardiff: Senedd Cymru. Read more here: 
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11517/cr-ld11517-e.pdf;  CHC. (2017). Briefing: The 
process of setting Local Housing Allowance rates and the impact of the policy on the social rented 
sector. Cardiff: CHC. Read more here: 
https://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/LHA_briefing_September.pdf;  Crisis. (2019). Cover the 
Cost: How gaps in Local Housing Allowance are impacting homelessness. London: Crisis. Read 
more here: https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240377/cover_the_cost_2019.pdf  
25 Data analysed from Statxplore 
26 House of Commons. (2021, January 26). Universal Credit: Private Rented Housing. Retrieved 
from House of Commons: https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-
questions/detail/2022-01-26/112483 
27 CIH. (2018). People, homes and services: A regional approach to tackling homelessness in North 
Wales. North Wales: Chartered Institute of Housing. Read more here: 
https://www.cih.org/news/north-wales-regional-homelessness-strategy  
28 Work and Pensions Committee. (2021, June 9). Oral evidence: Local Housing Allowance and 
Housing Supply, HC 165. Retrieved from House of Commons: 
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/2334/html/  
29 Our research concerns advertised rents, meaning the rent that is described in the adverts we 
surveyed. There may be some cases where the rent increases or decreases upon letting agreement 
being finalised.   
30 The Bevan Foundation. (2021). Wales Housing Crisis: The Role of LHA. Merthyr Tydfil: The Bevan 
Foundation. Read more here: https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/wales-housing-crisis-
the-role-of-lha/#:~:text=The%20LHA%20is%20designed%20to,is%20far%20from%20the%20mark. 
31 Ibid 
32 Ibid 
33 (CIH, 2019) 
Charlesworth, Z., Fell, D. B., & Macor, F. (2020). Evidencing the link between the Local Housing 
Allowance freeze and homelessness. London: Policy in Process. Read more here: 
https://policyinpractice.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Evidencing-the-link-between-the-LHA-
freeze-and-homelessness-Full-report-pub5Feb20.pdf 
Crisis. (2019). Cover the Cost: How gaps in Local Housing Allowance are impacting homelessness. 
London: Crisis. Read more here: 
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240377/cover_the_cost_2019.pdf 
Shelter. (2020). Analysis: Local Housing Allowance freeze. London: Shelter. Read more here: 
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/5OqhDJZkdKV7tHun755QvB/5c02a9431dddfcad91fad4
dccb76e127/Final_LHA_analysis.pdf 
34 (Welsh Government, 2022a) 
35 Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 17/01/2022 
Local authority housing officer, roundtable discussion, 27/01/2022 
36 Office for National Statistics. (2021, Febuary 16). Index of Private Housing Rental Prices, UK: 
January 2022. Retrieved from Office for National Statistics: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalp
rices/january2022#uk-private-rental-growth-rates-by-country 
37 Interview with Torfaen housing support staff, 30/04/2021 
Interview with Merthyr Tydfil housing support staff 05/05/2021 
38 Interview conducted by Bevan Foundation, 30/04/2021 
39 Interview with Gwynedd housing support, 18/05/2021 
Interview with Pembrokeshire housing support staff, 19/05/2021 
40 Statxplore 
41 (UK Government, 2017) 
42 Ibid 
43 (UK Government, 2021a) 
44 Freedom of Information case number 17193, obtained from Cardiff Council on 25/01/2022 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

https://www.entitledto.co.uk/help/Benefit_Changes_April_2016
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11517/cr-ld11517-e.pdf
https://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/LHA_briefing_September.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240377/cover_the_cost_2019.pdf
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2022-01-26/112483
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2022-01-26/112483
https://www.cih.org/news/north-wales-regional-homelessness-strategy
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/2334/html/
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/wales-housing-crisis-the-role-of-lha/#:~:text=The%20LHA%20is%20designed%20to,is%20far%20from%20the%20mark
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/wales-housing-crisis-the-role-of-lha/#:~:text=The%20LHA%20is%20designed%20to,is%20far%20from%20the%20mark
https://policyinpractice.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Evidencing-the-link-between-the-LHA-freeze-and-homelessness-Full-report-pub5Feb20.pdf
https://policyinpractice.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Evidencing-the-link-between-the-LHA-freeze-and-homelessness-Full-report-pub5Feb20.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240377/cover_the_cost_2019.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/5OqhDJZkdKV7tHun755QvB/5c02a9431dddfcad91fad4dccb76e127/Final_LHA_analysis.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/5OqhDJZkdKV7tHun755QvB/5c02a9431dddfcad91fad4dccb76e127/Final_LHA_analysis.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/january2022#uk-private-rental-growth-rates-by-country
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/indexofprivatehousingrentalprices/january2022#uk-private-rental-growth-rates-by-country


   
 

51 
 

 
45 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 
46 Interview with Torfaen housing support staff, 30/04/2021 
Interview with Rhondda Cynon Taf housing support staff, 11/05/2021 
47 Work and Pensions Committee. (2010, March 30). Broad Rental Market Areas. Retrieved from 
House of Commons: 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200910/cmselect/cmworpen/235/23509.htm 
48 (StatsWales, 2021) 
49 StatsWales. (2020a, Febuary 1). Rough Sleepers by local authority. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-
by-localauthority 
50 StatsWales. (2019, July 25). Households found to be eligible, homeless subject to duty to help to 
secure during the year. Main reason for loss of last settled home by type of household (Section 73). 
Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-
Prevention-and-Relief/households-found-to-be-eligible-homeless-subject-to-duty-to-help-to-
secure-during-the-year-main-reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-by-type-of-househ 
51 StatsWales. (2019, July 25). Households found to be threatened with homelessness during the 
year. Main reason for being threatened with homelessness by type of household (Section 66). 
Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-
Prevention-and-Relief/main-reason-for-being-threatened-with-homelessness-by-type-of-
household-section-66- 
52 Shelter Cymru. (2021, Febuary 22). Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP). Retrieved from 
Shelter Cymru: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for- 
53 UK Government. (2022a, Febuary 17). Applying for a Discretionary Housing Payment. Retrieved 
from UK Government: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/claiming-discretionary-
housing-payments/claiming-discretionary-housing-payments 
54 Department of Work and Pensions. (2021b). Discretionary Housing Payments Guidance Manual. 
London: Department of Work and Pensions. Read more here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discretionary-housing-payments-guidance-manual 
55 UK Government. (2021b, December 16). Discretionary Housing Payments statistics. Retrieved 
from UK Government: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-housing-
payments-statistics 
56 Welsh Government. (2014). Evaluation of Additional Discretionary Housing Payments Funding 
provided by the Welsh Government to Local Authorities in Wales for 2013/14. Cardiff: Welsh 
Government. Read more here: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-
06/evaluation-of-additional-discretionary-housing-payments.pdf 
57 (UK Government, 2021b) 
58 Bevan Foundation. (2020). Solving Poverty: Reforming Help With Housing Costs. Merthyr Tydfil: 
The Bevan Foundation. Read more here: https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/solving-
poverty-reforming-help-with-housing-costs/ 
59 (Welsh Government, 2014) 
60 Vale of Glamorgan Council. (2022, March 14). Private Renting. Retrieved from Vale of Glamorgan 
Council: https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/Housing/Housing-Support/Renting-
Privately.aspx 
61 Welsh Government. (2021a, March 21). Private Rented Sector leasing scheme: guidance. 
Retrieved from Welsh Government: https://gov.wales/private-rented-sector-leasing-scheme-
guidance 
62 Ibid 
63 Government Social Research. (2020). Understanding Tenant Experiences of the Private Rented 
Sector. Cardiff: Welsh Government. Read more here: https://gov.wales/understanding-tenant-
experiences-private-rented-sector 
64 NRLA. (2021). Quarterly Report - Universal Credit, debt and support. Sale: NRLA. Read more 
here: https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/quarterly-reports/2021/qtr-1-welfare 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 59

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200910/cmselect/cmworpen/235/23509.htm
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/households-found-to-be-eligible-homeless-subject-to-duty-to-help-to-secure-during-the-year-main-reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-by-type-of-househ
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/households-found-to-be-eligible-homeless-subject-to-duty-to-help-to-secure-during-the-year-main-reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-by-type-of-househ
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/households-found-to-be-eligible-homeless-subject-to-duty-to-help-to-secure-during-the-year-main-reason-for-loss-of-last-settled-home-by-type-of-househ
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/main-reason-for-being-threatened-with-homelessness-by-type-of-household-section-66-
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/main-reason-for-being-threatened-with-homelessness-by-type-of-household-section-66-
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Statutory-Homelessness-Prevention-and-Relief/main-reason-for-being-threatened-with-homelessness-by-type-of-household-section-66-
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/claiming-discretionary-housing-payments/claiming-discretionary-housing-payments
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/claiming-discretionary-housing-payments/claiming-discretionary-housing-payments
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discretionary-housing-payments-guidance-manual
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-housing-payments-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/discretionary-housing-payments-statistics
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/evaluation-of-additional-discretionary-housing-payments.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/evaluation-of-additional-discretionary-housing-payments.pdf
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/solving-poverty-reforming-help-with-housing-costs/
https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/solving-poverty-reforming-help-with-housing-costs/
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/Housing/Housing-Support/Renting-Privately.aspx
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/Housing/Housing-Support/Renting-Privately.aspx
https://gov.wales/private-rented-sector-leasing-scheme-guidance
https://gov.wales/private-rented-sector-leasing-scheme-guidance
https://gov.wales/understanding-tenant-experiences-private-rented-sector
https://gov.wales/understanding-tenant-experiences-private-rented-sector
https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/quarterly-reports/2021/qtr-1-welfare


   
 

52 
 

 
65 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government . (2019). English Private Landlord 
Survey 2018. London: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. Read more here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-private-landlord-survey-2018-main-report 
66 Ibid 
67 Ibid 
68 NRLA. (2020). NRLA Quarterly report - A focus on Universal Credit. Sale: NRLA. Read more here: 
https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/quarterly-reports/2020/qtr-1 
69 Ibid 
70 (NRLA, 2021) 
71 (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government , 2019) 
72 Focus group discussion, 10/02/2022 
73 (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government , 2019) 
74 Focus group discussion, 10/02/2022 
75 Shelter Cymru. (2022). CAN I GET A home? Barriers to getting a private rented home in Wales. 
Swansea: Shelter Cymru. Read more here: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2022/03/Can-I-get-a-home_Report_FINAL.pdf 
76 

income requirements. 
77 Same as above  
78 Interview with Torfaen housing support staff, 30/04/2021 
79 Shelter Cymru. (2020). Briefing Paper: Life in Lockdown in Wales. Cardiff: Shelter Cymru. 
Read more here: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Life-in-lockdown-in-
Wales_Nov-2020.pdf 
80 Shelter Cymru. (2015). Fit to rent? Today's Private Rented Sector in Wales. Swansea: Shelter 
Cymru. Read more here: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Fit-to-rent-
Todays-Private-Rented-Sector-in-Wales.pdf 
81 NHS. (2018, August 21). Can damp and mould affect my health? Retrieved from NHS: 
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/lifestyle/can-damp-and-mould-affect-my-
health/ 
82 Nick Stevens, resident in temporary accommodation, Cardiff, 17/08/2021 
83 (Shelter Cymru, 2020) 
84 (Shelter Cymru, 2015) 
85 Focus group participant, held online, 10/02/2022 
86 (Shelter Cymru, 2015) 
87 Welsh Government. (2022b, January 12). Written Statement: Implementation of the Renting 
Homes (Wales) Act 2016. Retrieved from Welsh Government: Written Statement: Implementation 
of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016. Read more here: https://gov.wales/written-statement-
implementation-renting-homes-wales-act-2016 
88 Ibid 
89 See discussion on landlord requirements 
90 For example, anti-social behaviour, rent arrears etc.  
91 Section 21, Housing Act 1988  
92 Ibid - as in force prior to 26 March 2020 
93 Renting Homes (Amendment) (Wales) Act 2021, s1 
94 Welsh Government. (2022c, March 14). Renting Homes Wales. Retrieved from Welsh 
Government: https://gov.wales/housing-law-changing-renting-homes 
95 Rent Smart Wales. (2022, January 12). Coronavirus - sector developments. Retrieved from Rent 
Smart Wales: https://www.rentsmart.gov.wales/en/covid19info/ 
96 Shelter. What is a licence? (2021, March 15). Retrieved from Shelter: 
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/renting/introduction_to_security_of_t
enure/what_is_a_licence 
97 Ibid 
98 Legislation.gov. (2022, March 14). Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016. Retrieved from 
Legislation.gov: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/1/section/1 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-private-landlord-survey-2018-main-report
https://www.nrla.org.uk/research/quarterly-reports/2020/qtr-1
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Can-I-get-a-home_Report_FINAL.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Can-I-get-a-home_Report_FINAL.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Life-in-lockdown-in-Wales_Nov-2020.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Life-in-lockdown-in-Wales_Nov-2020.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Fit-to-rent-Todays-Private-Rented-Sector-in-Wales.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Fit-to-rent-Todays-Private-Rented-Sector-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/lifestyle/can-damp-and-mould-affect-my-health/
https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/lifestyle/can-damp-and-mould-affect-my-health/
https://gov.wales/written-statement-implementation-renting-homes-wales-act-2016
https://gov.wales/written-statement-implementation-renting-homes-wales-act-2016
https://gov.wales/housing-law-changing-renting-homes
https://www.rentsmart.gov.wales/en/covid19info/
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/renting/introduction_to_security_of_tenure/what_is_a_licence
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/renting/introduction_to_security_of_tenure/what_is_a_licence
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/1/section/1


   
 

53 
 

 
99 (Welsh Government, 2022b) 
100 StatsWales. (2020b, September 1). Dwelling stock estimates by year and tenure. Retrieved from 
StatsWales: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-
Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-year-tenure 
101 Shelter Cymru. (2021, June 12). What is Local Housing Allowance? Retrieved from Shelter 
Cymru: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-housing/housing-benefit-and-council-
tax-reduction/what-is-local-housing-
allowance/#:~:text=Local%20housing%20allowance%20(LHA)%20is,renting%20from%20a%20hou
sing%20association. 
102 (UK Government, 2022b) 
103 Rhian Davies. (2019). Understanding Social Housing Evictions in Wales. Cardiff: Welsh 
Government. Read more here: https://gov.wales/understanding-social-evictions-wales 
104 This is inclusive of all social housing stock including both self-contained and non-self-
contained stock, general needs stock and supported, sheltered, and extra need accommodation; 
StatsWales. (2021b, October 26). Total stock at social rent by local authority area and 
accommodation type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-
Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype 
105 Ibid 
106 Ibid 
107 Ibid 
108 Ibid 
109 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 
110 Ibid 
111 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 
112 Citizens Advice. (2019, September 30). Check if a room counts as an extra bedroom for Housing 
Benefit. Retrieved from Citizens advice: https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/help-if-on-a-
low-income/housing-benefit/how-an-extra-bedroom-affects-your-housing-benefit/check-if-a-
room-counts-as-an-extra-bedroom-for-housing-benefit/ 
113 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 
114 Statxplore data analysed by the Bevan Foundation 
115 This is inclusive of all social housing stock including both self-contained and non-self-
contained stock, general needs stock and supported, sheltered, and extra need accommodation; 
StatsWales. (2021b, October 26). Total stock at social rent by local authority area and 
accommodation type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-
Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype 
116 There is no data that allows an analysis of the change in non-self-contained social housing 
stock by bedroom number since 2010/11;  Source: StatsWales. (2021d, October 26). Total stock at 
social rent by accommodation type and dwelling type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-
Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-accommodationtype-dwellingtype 
117 This is inclusive of all social housing stock including both self-contained and non-self-
contained stock; Source: Source: StatsWales. (2021b, October 26). Total stock at social rent by 
local authority area and accommodation type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-
Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype 
118 Ibid 
119 Source: StatsWales. (2021b, October 26). Total stock at social rent by local authority area and 
accommodation type. Retrieved from StatsWales: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-
Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype 
120 Ibid  
121 Ibid 
122 (UK Government, 2021b) 
123 (Welsh Government, 2021a) 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 61

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-year-tenure
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-year-tenure
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-housing/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/what-is-local-housing-allowance/#:~:text=Local%20housing%20allowance%20(LHA)%20is,renting%20from%20a%20housing%20association
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-housing/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/what-is-local-housing-allowance/#:~:text=Local%20housing%20allowance%20(LHA)%20is,renting%20from%20a%20housing%20association
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-housing/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/what-is-local-housing-allowance/#:~:text=Local%20housing%20allowance%20(LHA)%20is,renting%20from%20a%20housing%20association
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/get-advice/paying-for-housing/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/what-is-local-housing-allowance/#:~:text=Local%20housing%20allowance%20(LHA)%20is,renting%20from%20a%20housing%20association
https://gov.wales/understanding-social-evictions-wales
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/help-if-on-a-low-income/housing-benefit/how-an-extra-bedroom-affects-your-housing-benefit/check-if-a-room-counts-as-an-extra-bedroom-for-housing-benefit/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/help-if-on-a-low-income/housing-benefit/how-an-extra-bedroom-affects-your-housing-benefit/check-if-a-room-counts-as-an-extra-bedroom-for-housing-benefit/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/help-if-on-a-low-income/housing-benefit/how-an-extra-bedroom-affects-your-housing-benefit/check-if-a-room-counts-as-an-extra-bedroom-for-housing-benefit/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-accommodationtype-dwellingtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-accommodationtype-dwellingtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Social-Housing-Stock-and-Rents/totalstockatsocialrent-by-area-accommodationtype


   
 

54 
 

 
124 Welsh Government. (2021b, December 4). The Co-operation Agreement. Retrieved from The 
Welsh Government: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-
agreement-2021.pdf 
125 Connolly, K., Collinson, P., & Burgen, S. (2018, April 21). Renting property: how does it compare 
around the world. Retrieved from The Guardian: 
https://www.theguardian.com/money/2018/apr/21/renting-property-how-does-it-compare-
around-the-world 
Casla, K. (2018, October 12). Renting rights: what England can learn from fairer systems around the 
world. Retrieved from The Conversation: https://theconversation.com/renting-rights-what-
england-can-learn-from-fairer-systems-around-the-world-103779 
126 Welsh Government. (2022d, Febuary 17). Model Written Statement for secure contracts. 
Retrieved from Welsh Government: https://gov.wales/model-written-statement-secure-contracts 
127 Davies, B., Snelling, C., Turner, E., & Marquardt, S. (2017). Lessons from Germany: Tenant power 
in the rental market. London: Institute for Public Policy Research. Read more here: 
https://www.ippr.org/publications/lessons-from-germany-tenant-power-in-the-rental-market 
128 Steensig, S. (2021, June 21). Sweden's government could be about to collapse in a row over rent 
Retrieved from Euro News: https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2021/06/18/sweden-s-
government-could-be-about-to-collapse-in-a-row-over-rent. 

Tudalen y pecyn 62

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-agreement-2021.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/cooperation-agreement-2021.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/money/2018/apr/21/renting-property-how-does-it-compare-around-the-world
https://www.theguardian.com/money/2018/apr/21/renting-property-how-does-it-compare-around-the-world
https://theconversation.com/renting-rights-what-england-can-learn-from-fairer-systems-around-the-world-103779
https://theconversation.com/renting-rights-what-england-can-learn-from-fairer-systems-around-the-world-103779
https://gov.wales/model-written-statement-secure-contracts
https://www.ippr.org/publications/lessons-from-germany-tenant-power-in-the-rental-market
https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2021/06/18/sweden-s-government-could-be-about-to-collapse-in-a-row-over-rent
https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2021/06/18/sweden-s-government-could-be-about-to-collapse-in-a-row-over-rent


Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 63

Eitem 4Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 67

Eitem 5Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 72

Eitem 6 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 102

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Papurau i'w nodi
	2.1 Llythyr gan y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad mewn perthynas â Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 2) ar y Bil Etholiadau
	2.2 Adroddiad gan y Sefydliad Bevan ar yr argyfwng tai yng Nghymru
	4 Ymchwiliad i ddarparu safleoedd ar gyfer Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr - trafod y gwaith ymgysylltu
	5 Trafod y flaenraglen waith
	6 Ymchwiliad i ail gartrefi – trafod y prif faterion
	Crynodeb o'r ymatebion i'r ymgynghoriad (Saesneg yn unig)




